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In response to changing needs,
the Singapore Workforce
Development Agency (WDA)
was formed to lead and drive
workforce development in
Singapore. Its mission is to
enhance the employability and
competitiveness of everyone in
the workforce, from the young
to old workers, from the
rank-and-file to professionals,
managers and executives.
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Vision

A Competitive Workforce,
with Workers Learning for Life
and Advancing With Skills

Mission

To Enhance the Employability
and Competitiveness of
Our Workforce
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Message by

Chairman
After weathering the downturn in 2009, Singapore bounced back to post a strong
growth of 14.5%1 in 2010. However, the strong growth belied some of the challenges
we faced in FY10. Given the ever increasing global competition, there was greater
impetus for WDA to improve the productivity of our workforce to ensure
sustainable growth. At the same time, WDA had to play an important social
role to help lower skilled workers move into better jobs so that they could
benefit from the strong growth. After the recovery, it was an opportune time
to re-think some of our approaches and strategies to refresh our workforce
to tackle the new challenges ahead.
In FY10, we switched our focus from helping workers keep their jobs to
helping them become productive and economically competitive. WDA took
a holistic approach and launched the Productivity Initiatives in Services and
Manufacturing (PRISM) to complement the wide spectrum of skills training
programmes supported by WDA. The productivity-related programmes, master
classes and seminars under PRISM aimed to provide the know-how of the
different productivity tools and techniques as well as encourage a culture
of innovation and supporting enterprising behaviour. WDA’s productivity
drive is also targeted at the service industry. Productivity programmes
for the retail, hospitality and F&B industry have also been introduced
in the past year.
A common misconception is that continuing education and training
is only for the low skilled. With an increasing pace of change in today’s
economic climate, Professionals, Managers, Executives and
Technicians (PMETs) face increasing pressure to remain relevant
to the economy and move up the career ladder. In March 2011,
WDA and the Ministry of Manpower launched the Skills Training
for Excellence Programme (STEP) to help PMETs deepen their
occupational skills, keep up on the latest trends and developments
in their industries and develop soft skills to edge up in their careers.
Over the past year, WDA has provided avenues for PMETs to
train in exciting areas such as sustainable building design, green
manufacturing, robotics and biomedical manufacturing. With
PMETs making half of Singapore’s workforce, WDA will explore
more areas and opportunities for PMETs to develop their careers
to stay relevant and competitive.
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In the push for inclusive growth, WDA continues to uplift low wage workers who had been left behind
as the Singapore economy surges ahead. The Workfare Training Support (WTS) programme was central
to provide the necessary financial and social support for low wage workers to find better jobs and improve
their lives. Under WTS, WDA also introduced motivational workshops and set up support networks to
raise low wage workers’ confidence as well as motivate them to persevere in their training.
The response to WDA’s efforts to build up a robust and comprehensive Continuing Education and Training
system has been very encouraging. In a 2010 survey, the proportion of companies that used the Singapore
Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) system in recruitment or training grew to 20.6% compared to 12.3%
the previous year. 90% of employees reported better work performance after training and more importantly,
65% reported that WSQ had a positive effect on their productivity. I would like to take this opportunity
to thank our partners in the unions, government and industries who have made these achievements
possible.
WDA will continue to support the national agenda to drive productivity as well as push for inclusive growth
in FY11. With the strong support of our partners and the guidance of the National Productivity and
Continuing Education Council (NPCEC), I am confident that we will make further headway in developing
an efficient workforce. On a personal note, I am excited by the expanding economic role of WDA in
building sustained and inclusive growth. I would like to especially thank Heng Kee for his valuable
contributions to WDA and welcome Hong Kuan who will no doubt provide the leadership to guide WDA
in meeting the challenge of keeping Singapore’s workforce competitive and employable. I am looking
forward to FY11 where WDA will set new milestones in developing our CET system.

Tan Pheng Hock
Chairman

1 Economic survey of Singapore 2010, Ministry of Trade and Industry

5

WDA Annual Report 2010/11

Joint Message by

Chief Executives
Having helped companies save jobs and retrenched workers
find jobs during the recession, the Skills Programme for
Upgrading and Resilience (SPUR) ended in November 2010.
SPUR had achieved remarkable results, with 334,000
workers and 4,800 companies participating in the
programme. Even in the midst of the economic recovery,
WDA’s efforts to advance the skills of our workforce
continued with increased intensity, with special focus
on supporting productivity and inclusive growth.
To support the productivity drive, WDA moved to
broaden and deepen the skills of our workforce. In
addition to launching courses in new growth areas
such as green energy, WDA also introduced courses
aimed at broadening key horizontal skills of professionals
in areas such as project management, human resource
and business operations. WDA’s outreach to PMETs
has borne fruit with over 112,000 PMETs participating
in SPUR. WDA also provided more opportunities for
workers to become masters of their fields through new
courses to deepen their skills. For example, nurses could
move up to take on supervisory roles through the nursing
clinical instructor programme.
For companies to raise their productivity, merely sending
their employees for skills training is insufficient. Companies
need to acquire the know-how to tap on productivity tools
and concepts and nurture productivity champions. In
response to these needs, WDA rolled out the Productivity
Initiatives in Services & Manufacturing (PRISM) containing
a range of seminars, programmes and master classes aimed
at improving enterprise productivity. Over 1,400 PMETs have
benefited from the initiative since 2010.
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WDA’s efforts at enhancing the employability of
low wage workers continued unabated in FY10.
Central to WDA’s efforts was the Workfare Training
Support (WTS) scheme which offered enhanced
funding support and financial recognition for low
wage workers undergoing re-training. About 13,900
low wage workers received enhanced training
support from WTS in FY10 while close to 26,900
workers received the Training Commitment Award
(TCA). Innovative approaches were used to reach
out to the low wage workers. For example, WDA
organised WTS roadshows in the heartlands such
as Clementi and Toa Payoh to drive the message
of re-skilling through skits and interactive displays.
WDA even brought literacy training to the workplace
through the English@Workplace programme.
Fundamentally, a comprehensive and high quality
CET system has to be in place to support skills
advancement and foster a culture lifelong learning.
To raise the professionalism of CET trainers, WDA
announced new qualification requirements for WSQ
trainers, assessors and curriculum developers in
March 2011. WDA’s Institute for Adult Learning
also expanded its offerings to include higher level
courses such as the Master of Training and
Development from Griffith University, thus
establishing an upgrading pathway for CET
professionals. A S$3 million CET Innovation Fund
was set up to encourage research in adult
education. As a result of our efforts in ramping up
CET, the Singapore Workforce Skills Qualifications
continued to attract ever more trainees. In FY10,
291,868 trainees underwent WSQ training, a 26%
increase compared to 2009.
Looking forward to FY11, WDA will build upon our
momentum to implement the productivity agenda
as set out by the National Productivity and
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Continuing Education Council (NPCEC). WDA will
collaborate with CET providers to expand CET
offerings to build deep expertise and cross functional
T-shaped competencies for PMETs. Outreach wise,
WDA will continue to review and improve
approaches to attract PMEs and get more SMEs
on board CET as well as develop new funding tools
to attract best-in-class providers to push up our
CET system up several notches. Possibilities include
the use of social media to attract the technological
savvy and enhancing our websites to be a onestop portal. On the horizon are the CET Campuses
which are expected to be completed in 2013. The
designs of the campuses were unveiled in April
2011 and we hope that the ongoing work on the
CET Campuses will inject a sense of excitement
among CET practitioners and companies.
FY10 has been a fruitful year for WDA and our
achievements would not have been possible without
the close collaboration with our partners and other
government agencies, as well as the commitment
and passion of WDA staff. We would like to express
our thanks to all of them.

Wong Hong Kuan
Chief Executive

Chan Heng Kee
Chief Executive
(1 December 2008 – 31 May 2011)
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WDA

Board
From 1 September 2009
to 31 August 2011
Note: All members of the current WDA board are also members
of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Advisory Council.
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Corporate Governance
Disclosure
The Singapore Workforce Development Agency (WDA) is committed to high standards
of corporate governance. The WDA Board and management have put in place a
framework to ensure strict adherence to good corporate governance practices.

Function of WDA Board
The WDA Board provides guidance and advice to the
WDA Management on all matters under WDA’s purview,
including its policy, regulatory and promotional roles.
It also reviews and approves the strategic plans and
budgets of WDA. The WDA Board members come from
diverse backgrounds such as the unions, the private and
public sectors. This allows us to tap on their varied
experience, skills, knowledge and perspective. Under the
Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act, the WDA
Board shall comprise a Chairman, a Deputy Chairman
(if appointed), and not less than 8 but not more than 16
other members as determined by the Minister for
Manpower. The quorum at every board meeting of the
Agency is one-third of the total number of members.

b)

Grants Committee – The Grants Committee ensures
that WDA has a robust financial system to fulfill the
WDA’s mission. It provides advice on funding principles
and grant policies for WDA administered funds,
covering both the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund
and the Skills Development Fund and approves funding
proposals that are within budget values specified by
the WDA Board.

c)

Investment Committee – The Investment Committee
formulates investment policies and guidelines that are
in line with the approach set by the Supervising Ministry
and are compliant with the investment clause in the
Skills Development Levy Act. It also manages the
surplus of WDA administered funds available for
investment by reviewing the investment strategy and
performance of the fund managers from time to time
as well as monitoring the results of the investments.

d)

Remuneration Committee – The Remuneration
Committee sets human resource management and
development policies which includes approving staff
remuneration policies, major changes to schemes of
service, early retirement and early release schemes
as well as the appointment, promotion and
performance bonuses for senior management
(i.e. Director and above) in WDA. It also reviews and
deliberates on staff appeals related to personnel
matters.

WDA Board Committees
The Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act
empowers the WDA Board to form committees from
among its own members or other persons to support the
work of the Board. The WDA Board Committees guide
the development of specific areas of the WDA and perform
the necessary due diligence and reporting to the Board.
Each committee is headed by a designated member and
abides by its terms of reference. The WDA Board
Committees are:
a)

Audit and Risk Committee – The Audit and Risk
Committee ensures that WDA has a rigorous and
robust system of internal controls. It reviews WDA’s
risk assessment and management system as well as
the rigour of the internal control systems. Internal and
external auditors are also engaged to conduct audit
reports on WDA’s work and processes.
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Risk Management Practices and Internal Controls
Internal Control Framework
WDA’s internal control system ensures that assets and
resources are safeguarded and risk management, control
measures and procedures in place are adequate and
effective. It also ensures compliance with established
policies and regulations, proper maintenance of accounting
records and reliability of the financial statements.
The internal control framework includes clearly defined
authority and financial approval limits, reporting
mechanisms, comprehensive policies and procedures
relating to operational and financial controls, annual
budgeting and monthly financial reporting on its operations.
Under the Risk Management Framework, WDA has
developed a risk treatment plan to evaluate, mitigate and
monitor potential risk exposure under the following
categories:
a) Strategic - Risks that affect the long term direction
of WDA
b) Operation - Risks that affect WDA’s operations
c) Financial - Risks that lead to loss of public funds
or availability of financial resources
The risk items and mitigation measures are monitored
regularly by WDA Management and reported to the Audit
and Risk Committee and the WDA Board.
The WDA Management is responsible to review and monitor
the effectiveness of internal controls to safeguard WDA’s
interests, and will evaluate the necessity of implementing
other internal control policies from time to time, aimed at
compliance with all regulatory and statutory standards.

Internal and External Audit Functions
The Internal Audit Unit (IAU) functions independently and
reports directly to the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
and administratively to WDA’s Chief Executive.
IAU provides assurance to management through its
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of internal
controls and processes, compliance with established
policies, procedures and regulatory requirements. Results
of audits and recommendations for control enhancements
are promptly communicated to senior management. IAU
also monitors the implementation status of the audit
observations.
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In addition, the external auditor performs the annual
statutory audit and its audit observations (if any) which are
detailed in the Management Letter which is reported to
the Audit and Risk Committee.
The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) meets with the
external and internal auditors, without the presence of the
management, at least once a year. The financial statements
and the accompanying announcements are presented to
the ARC for approval, before endorsement by the Board,
to ensure the integrity of information to be released.

Business and Ethical Conduct
All staff of WDA have to adhere to high standards of
professional integrity and personal conduct. They are not
to get involved in matters where a conflict of interest may
arise and are to declare to the situation to their supervisor.
Staff members are also subject to provisions of the Official
Secrets Act and are required to sign a declaration upon
recruitment to acknowledge this provision and are reminded
of this provision when they leave WDA’s service.
To reinforce WDA’s commitment to a culture of integrity
and transparency within the organisation, WDA has in
place the whistle blowing policy and its reporting mechanism
to facilitate the reporting of fraud and wrongdoing of staff.
A half yearly fraud report which lists both internal and
external fraud cases is submitted to the Audit and Risk
Committee for its review and guidance.

Annual Reports and Dissemination of Public
Information
WDA submits an annual report after the end of each
financial year to the Minister for Manpower, which outlines
the activities of the WDA during the preceding financial
year and contains information relating to the proceedings
and policy of the WDA as the Minister may, from time to
time, direct.
WDA’s full year financial results are reported to the Board
and disseminated to the public via WDA’s corporate
website. The website also contains up to date corporate
information such as Annual Reports, latest developments
and press releases.

WDA Annual Report 2010/11
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ee
Mr Ang Hin K

Chief Executive
(e2i)
ployability Institute
Employment & Em

Quote:

Today, most businesses already acknowledge that they
cannot always rely on low cost labour to grow. Many
also see a need to invest in skilling their workers, and
raising their productivity to remain competitive. Our
workers also recognise that there is a need to be
proactive in acquiring new skills and be competent at
the workplace. Both groups are aware that it is imperative
that they gear themselves up for today’s challenge, as
well as to stay relevant for tomorrow. Together with
WDA and other tripartite partners, e2i will continue to
help companies and workers move in that direction
faster and with greater urgency.
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Mr K
oh

Juan

Kiat
Executi
ve Dire
ore Na
c
to
r
tional E
mploye
rs Fede
(SNEF)
ration

Singap

Quote:

Singapore is located in a dynamic
region where countries around us are transforming
themselves and upgrading their capabilities. Singapore must
improve its productivity and get ahead of the competition.
Employers must work with their unions and the government
to achieve this. The primary responsibility for improving
productivity lies with employers and business leaders. I am
glad to see WDA reaching out to employers through the
master classes, seminars organised under the Productivity
Initiatives in Services & Manufacturing (PRISM). I am also
pleased that WDA continues to provide substantial funding
and support for companies to send their workers for
upgrading. I hope that companies will leverage on the WDA
and SNEF programmes to improve their competitiveness
and thrive amidst the strong competition.

18

WDA Annual Report 2010/11

Quote:

In a knowledge-intensive field such as process technology,
there can be no substitute for continuous learning and
training. Whether it be in producing pharmaceuticals,
refining crude oil or treating waste water, professionals
in their field must keep abreast of ongoing developments
in technology and research. That is why I believe in the
need for a training framework such as the Process
Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) system. The Process
Manpower Skills and Training Council (MSTC) has been
steadfast in advocating the adoption of Process WSQ
and introducing new competency standards to keep in
touch with the latest developments. As the co-chair
of the Process MSTC, I am proud to be
part of these efforts with WDA to help
professionals handling process technology
perform at the highest level.

Mr C
hristo
pher D
obson
Proces
Co-ch
airman
s Man
pow
er Skills
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and Tr
aining
Counc
il

Quote:

Infocomm is an exciting field that has generated much buzz over the
past few years. People recognise the latest iPhone or Facebook
applications but many do not realise that the infocomm industry
encompasses a wide range of disciplines such as IT governance,
business analysis, business analytics and risk & compliance
management. In this respect, the infocomm industry provides a range
of career possibilities to PMEs and there is a need to equip professionals
with the right skillsets to prepare them to take up these opportunities.
The Strategic Technology Management Institute (STMI) builds on a
strong partnership with companies, synergises with complementary
training partners and industry associations to offer updated, industryrelevant and high-quality training under the National Infocomm
Competency Framework (NICF) to infocomm professionals and users
of infocomm technology. With WDA’s support, I am sure that STMI
will help bolster Singapore’s position
as a regional IT Hub with a ready pool
of business savvy IT leaders and
professionals.

g
rles Lin
a
h
C
r
D
ctor

te
Dire
ent Institu
Managem
y
g
lo
o
n
h
Tec
Strategic
(STMI)
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Mr Do
uglas F
oo

Quote:
Chairma
n
F&B Indu
stry Skills
Singaporeans’ expectations
and
Training C
o
u
n
c
il
of F&B professionals have
increased over the years.
F&B outlets need to differentiate themselves by
both the quality of their food and service. When we launched
the F&B WSQ framework in 2006, most F&B companies did
not have formalised training programmes. Since then, we have
made in-roads, training 61,000 F&B workers through the F&B
WSQ frameworks. The major challenge ahead is to improve
the productivity of F&B companies. A common perception is
that service companies cannot significantly improve productivity
as they are reliant on the personal touch. However, there are
significant areas where productivity could potentially be
improved, especially at the back-end processes such as
accounting, procurement and human resources. I believe we
can make strides in productivity improvements as long as we
have the proper mindset.
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WDA made a significant impact in helping
companies cut costs and save jobs, and helping
workers reskill and upskill for the recovery
through the Skills Programme for
Upgrading and Resilience (SPUR).
Between December 2008 and
November 2010, over 334,000 workers
underwent SPUR training.
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Road to Recovery
Helping Companies and Workers
Manage the Downturn
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In the spotlight:

MADAM
KANAGAVALLI
Madam Kanagavalli, 49, had been unemployed for
3 months when she approached the Southeast
Community Development Council (SECDC) for
assistance in September 2009. She had lost her job
as a cashier and needed to find employment to
contribute to the household income. Her confidence
was low, as she felt that her age and lack of
qualifications were barriers to finding employment.
Recognising that she lacked IT and job search skills,
the career consultant referred her to computer literacy
and soft skills training, followed by workshops in
Interview and Job Search Skills. As a result, she gained
confidence in her job search and successfully secured
employment as Security Officer with Singapore
Polytechnic. Madam Kanagavalli attributes her current
positive outlook to the encouragement of the career
consultant, and the training provided, which helped
open new career options which were previously closed
to her.

In the spotlight:

DELTA AIR LINES
In December 2008, Delta merged with Northwest Airlines and with the global recession at its
peak, Delta had many challenges to consider when it came to maintaining the Singapore
reservations centre. One of their main concerns was the need to retrain the existing staff so that
they would be able to operate Delta’s reservation system. In collaboration with WDA, Delta
leveraged on the Skills Programme for Upgrading and Resilience (SPUR) and became a WSQ
in-house approved training organisation (ATO). Through this programme, Delta successfully
re-trained their reservations employees through the Tourism WSQ and even hired more staff
to support the growing Asia Pacific business. The Delta Air Lines Singapore Global Reservations
Centre is now a greatly enhanced, well trained and productive operation.

Rethink

After the recovery, WDA had to face a
new challenge - to develop a productive and
adaptable workforce that can thrive in the
fast changing world. New approaches had
to be taken to develop the capability
of each worker and allow them to
fulfil their potential
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Towards A
Productive Workforce
for an Inclusive Society
After successfully helping workers and
companies manage the downturn in 2009,
WDA switched gears to pursue the national
agenda of achieving sustained and inclusive
growth through our CET system as set out
by the Economic Strategies Committee
(ESC). For FY10, WDA was focused on the
following priorities:
•

Supporting Productivity and
Capability-driven Economic Growth
by developing the skills, expertise and
capabilities of the Singapore workers.

•

Raising the quality of our CET system by raising the professionalism of CET trainers and providing
a comprehensive pathway for CET trainers to reach peaks of excellence.

•

Building a first-class CET system by extending the network of CET providers and expanding the
CET infrastructure.

•

Fostering Inclusive Growth by providing special assistance for low wage workers.
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Supporting Productivity and Capabilitydriven Economic Growth
In the midst of the economic recovery, WDA re-adapted its
approach to reach out to PMETs, providing avenues for
workers to become specialists in their fields and promoting
enterprise productivity:
•

Greater Support for Professionals, Managers,
Executives and Technicians (PMETs)
As the global economy becomes more dynamic and
volatile, the pace of economic restructuring will become
faster resulting in shorter business cycles. PMETs whose
skills are more specialised face the risk of skills obsolesce.
To address PMET needs, the Government launched the
Skills Training for Excellence Programme (STEP) in
March 2011.
Aimed at helping PMETs across all job functions, STEP
contains a suite of programmes which not only aim to
deepen their occupational skills but also broaden their
skills in various aspects of business operations, refresh
their skills to keep in touch with the latest developments
in their industries and hone their leadership skills.
This fits in with the ESC recommendations to nurture well
rounded “T-shaped” PMETS who not only possess vertical
skills in their area of expertise but also horizontal skills
such as project management, business management
and human resource. An example is the partnership with
Kaplan Professional to pilot the rollout of two WSQ
business management programmes for the industry,
namely “Business Management for Supervisors” and
“Business Management for Managers” in October 2010.
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•

Deepen skills in specialised fields
Extending beyond the traditional boundaries of building foundation skills, WDA placed emphasis on skills deepening,
which enabled workers to become masters in their own fields. This entailed contextualising training courses and
offering a wide and deep range of courses at all levels. For instance, to deepen the skillsets of the Early Childhood
Care and Education (ECCE) educators and encourage their Continuous Professional Development (CPD), WDA
partnered SEED Institute to deliver more CPD programmes in areas such as Early Intervention, Special Need and
Teacher-Child Interaction under the ECCE WSQ framework in August 2010
WDA also developed more WSQ courses at higher levels such as graduate diplomas and certificates, specialist
diplomas and advanced certificates, to deepen “vertical” skills among PMETs and provide a progression pathway
for PMETs to advance in their careers. WDA introduced the Bachelor of Science in Aviation Business Administration
(BSABA) scholarship by SIM University (UniSIM) and the Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University (ERAU) to groom
employees who are earmarked for leadership positions in the aviation related industries. WDA also introduced the
landscape industry scholarship which will lead to a Master of Landscape Architecture degree as well as four new
precision engineering (PE) WSQ Graduate Diplomas to deepen “vertical skills” such as mechatronics, design and
manufacturing processes.
Besides formal courses, STEP also offers short executive development programmes and master classes such as
the industrial practitioners’ programmes on technology management and product design with Warwick and SIM
Global Education, and “Legendary Service at the Ritz-Carlton” master class with Ritz-Carlton.
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In the spotlight:

MR JEREMIAH JIMMY OH
After five years as a customer service officer, Jeremiah decided to pursue
his dreams of working in the Computer Graphics (CG) animation industry.
Getting a job in the highly specialised industry was tough as he lacked
experience and skills. He took a major step towards this goal when he
enrolled in the WSQ Advanced Certificate in Animation course at CG Protege
Animation School, which is under the Skills Training for Excellence Programme
(STEP). To further deepen his skills, he moved on to complete the WSQ
Diploma in Animation. The course helped Jeremiah land his dream job and
become part of the team that is producing the aptly named Dream Defenders,
Singapore’s first 3D stereoscopic animated television series.

•

Promoting enterprise productivity
Productivity concepts and techniques are essential for companies to develop and implement productivity initiatives,
and groom productivity champions. In response, WDA introduced the Productivity Initiatives in Services & Manufacturing
(PRISM) in July 2010. Under PRISM, companies can access a suite of seminars, programmes and master classes
aimed at improving enterprise productivity and encouraging a culture of innovation and continuous improvements.
Among the master classes offered under PRISM is the THINK! Innovation series, organised in collaboration with
the Logistics Institute Asia Pacific (TILAP), where top executives could share on fresh perspectives in achieving
productivity and organisational excellence. WDA also developed new WSQ qualifications in August 2010. An
example is the WSQ Certified and Innovation (Lean Management) track in the Generic Manufacturing Skills framework,
to train companies to use lean tools and techniques to streamline processes and improve productivity. To date,
over 1,400 PMETs have benefited from PRISM programmes. The WSQ Certified Productivity and Innovation Manager
(CPIM) programme was also launched under PRISM to encourage companies to groom productivity champions
and initiate productivity improvements from within. To date, 35 companies have embarked on the programme with
over 160 participants trained.
Recognising that Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) face unique challenges in raising productivity due to their
limited size and resources, WDA and SPRING collaborated to launch SME-PRO, which is a three step approach
for SMEs to improve the productivity. In addition, WDA and SIMTech developed the WSQ SME Manufacturing
Excellence Programme to train a pool of ‘Technovation Managers’ to champion operations review and improvement
in their organisations. To date, 88 managers from 23 SMEs have been trained and the companies that have
participated in the programme have reported productivity improvement ranging from 10% to 23%.
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In the spotlight:

MS LIOW HWEE KHENG
In lean manufacturing, excellence is a constant pursuit of learning and applying.
Just ask Ms Liow Hwee Kheng, the Lean Champion of world-class CO2 laser optics
manufacturer, II-VI Singapore Pte Ltd. Identified as one of the key change agents
by the company, she was sent to attend the SME Manufacturing Excellence
Programme through STEP where she was trained in Operations Management
Innovation (OMNI). After picking up new skills and valuable industry insights from
lessons and networking during the course, she was able to design and implement
a lean programme for the company. As a result, the company achieves higher
productivity and continuous improvement while Ms Liow gains enhanced knowledge,
confidence and abilities to perform better.

Raising the quality of our CET system
To ensure that our CET system continue to meet the needs
of employers and workers and deliver positive training
outcomes, WDA introduced new qualification requirements
to raise the professionalism of WSQ trainers, assessors and
courseware developers. Existing WSQ Approved Training
Organisations (ATOs) offering public WSQ training will need
to ensure that at least 80% of their trainers and assessors
possess Advanced Certificate in Training and Assessment
(ACTA) qualifications or equivalent by 1 October 2014; while
all their courseware developers would need to possess
Diploma in Adult and Continuing Education (DACE)
qualifications or equivalent by 1 October 2015. Existing
WSQ ATOs offering in-house WSQ training will need to
ensure that at least 80% of its trainers and assessors
possess Workplace Training Programme (WTP) or equivalent
by 1 October 2014; while at least one of their master trainers
and courseware developers will need to possess ACTA
qualifications or equivalent by 1 October 2013.
Supporting this initiative, the Institute for Adult Learning
(IAL) engaged the CET sector to identify and develop a
comprehensive suite of competencies to meet the
professional needs of trainers, assessors and curriculum
developers. These competencies were developed into
WSQ Workplace Trainer Programme (WTP), Advanced
Certificate in Training and Assessment (ACTA), and Diploma
in Adult Continuing Education and Training (DACE).
A turn-key training package for WTP was also developed
for corporations that wished to conduct training
in-house.
IAL has developed the Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL)
as an additional pathway to complete selected modules
of the Advanced Certificate in Training and Assessment
(ACTA). Through RPL, experienced adult educators, who
possess equivalent qualifications or relevant experience,
can apply for partial or full exemption from the above
requirements.
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Aimed at kick-starting a culture of innovation in learning
and training in the CET sector, WDA set up a $3 million
CET Innovation Fund in October 2010. The fund provides
CET professionals the opportunity to develop innovative
and creative pedagogical design to enhance workforce
learning in areas such as harnessing technology in CET,
enhancement of learning in WSQ workplace literacy, and
workplace and organisational learning. To date, there have
been four recipients of the fund including the Singapore
Institute of Retail Studies and the HMI Institute of Health
Sciences. In addition a $4.5 million research grant was
committed to IAL in support of its efforts to develop a
strong research capability within the CET sector, including
nurturing a community of researcher-practitioners and
building an international research network with partner
institutions. In tandem, three research centres were setup
to spearhead CET research in Singapore: Centre of
Research for Learning; Centre for Skills, Productivity and
Performance Research; and Centre for Evaluation and
Innovation Research.
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Building a first-class CET system
A cornerstone of a productivity-driven economy is a comprehensive
and robust CET system to develop a highly skilled and adaptable
workforce. In line with the ESC recommendations, WDA has tied
up with best-in-class foreign institutes via partnerships with local
institutions. For example, WDA collaborated with the German
Institute of Science and Technology-TUM Asia to launch the
Professional Development Programmes (PDP) for the Manufacturing
and Chemical Industries. The first PDP for Chemicals will start in
October 2011. WDA also collaborated with the New York University
Tish School for the Arts Asia in September 2010 to offer a suite
of courses to train and groom our local performing artistes for the
world stage.
In a first for the F&B industry, WDA announced the launch of an
Integrated CET Centre for Culinary and F&B Service to meet the
stronger industry demand for a skilled and productive workforce.
The Integrated CET Centre, managed by At-Sunrice GlobalChef
Academy, will feature the latest industry-standard, state-of-theart kitchens, equipment, tools, and software so as to provide
quality culinary, F&B service and management education. Inspired
to become a full-fledged WSQ institution, it will offer a holistic
range of WSQ programmes, ranging from Certificate to Diploma
level, as well as courses for specialised professionals such
sommeliers and baristas. It will also introduce modular professional
development courses to cater to the upgrading needs of the F&B
workforce.
Come 2013, Singapore’s workforce can also look forward to two
National CET Campuses which will serve as a one stop destination
for skills training and career opportunities. In April 2011, WDA
unveiled the designs of the CET Campuses which will feature an
open physical architecture conducive to learning and state-of-theart facilities to support modern ways of training delivery such as
mobile and collaborative style learning – making both campuses
the first of its kind learning habitats for our workforce. While physical
developments are underway and on track, WDA is stepping up
efforts to attract the right mix of best-in-class local and overseas
partners into the CET Campuses to deliver quality CET programmes.
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Fostering Inclusive Growth
The Workfare Training Support (WTS) scheme remains the central
plank of WDA’s efforts to uplift low wage workers. Launched in
July 2010, low wage workers can receive enhanced support of
up to 95% of course fee funding as well as monetary awards of
up to $400 per year for attaining Statements of Attainment (SOA)
or Qualifications under the Training Commitment Award (TCA)
scheme. In FY10, a total of about 13,900 low wage workers
received enhanced funding support while close to 26,900 received
TCA awards. Beyond financial support, WDA introduced the
Workfare-Skill Up programme under WTS in FY10. Under this
structured programme, 3,200 low wage workers attended
motivational workshops to boost their confidence and receive
encouragement to persevere in their training. Of these, about
1,250 proceeded to acquire basic English literacy classes which
will enable them to progress to vocational skills training.

WDA also reached out to low wage workers through WTS roadshows in the heartlands. In FY10, a total of three WTS
roadshows were held in Bedok, Clementi and Tampines. The WTS roadshows incorporated an experiential skills
demonstration approach showcasing WSQ skill-based training at workplaces. Besides stage demonstrations and
displays illustrating WSQ training and career pathways and onsite consultations, unconventional and informal approaches
were used to attract low wage workers to the WTS roadshows including using well-known personalities to spread the
messages of lifelong learning and advancing careers through skills.
Other new and innovative approaches were used to attract and keep low wage workers in training. For example, WDA
rolled out a ‘Refer-a-Friend’ programme to encourage trainees who completed the Motivational Workshop under the
Workfare-Skill Up programme to refer individuals to the same programme. WDA also brought English literacy to the
workplace through the English@Workplace programme, thus making it convenient and easy for low wage workers to
enhance their literacy.
In addition, WDA launched the Environmental Cleaning WSQ framework in July 2010 to provide a holistic training and
career progression pathway for cleaning crews, stewards and supervisors in the cleaning industry. Workers in the
industry can now look forward to taking up industry recognised training to raise their skills and capabilities that will
enhance their employability. In conjunction, the National Environmental Agency introduced the Cleaning Accreditation
Scheme to raise cleaning standards, professionalism and productivity of the industry.
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In the spotlight:

MR MUHAMMAD ASRAF
BIN KADIR SHARIP
Mr Muhammad Asraf Bin Kadir Sharip attended the Esplanade’s WSQ Higher Certificate
in Technical Theatre programme in 2009 to learn about the different aspects of technical
theatre including performance sound, stage lighting and staging. Through the programme,
he equipped himself with good theoretical knowledge of technical theatre and on the
job learning which is necessary for the industry. With the experience and knowledge
obtained, he plans to mentor and teach other individuals in the industry. One memorable
event which he was involved in was the performance by the Berlin Philharmonic
Orchestra in 2010. As one of the show crew who helped to set up the stage, he was
able to showcase the skills he acquired from the training.

Towards a
World-Class
CET System
Building on
a Strong
Foundation
A productivity-driven economy needs a strong CET foundation. Over the years, WDA has developed a
robust and comprehensive CET system.
•

An Established Skills Credentialing System
The Singapore Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) system is a national skills qualifications system
designed to equip workers with relevant employability, industry and occupational skills to remain
competitive and employable. As at end FY10, WSQ had 26 frameworks covering a wide range of
industries from tourism to precision engineering.
As at end FY10, 648,181 workers have undergone WSQ training since its launch in 2005. In FY10
alone, 291,868 workers underwent WSQ training, an increase of 26% over the previous year.
Ensuring the relevance of the WSQ frameworks is key to the effectiveness of our CET system. In
FY10, WDA continued to review the WSQ frameworks such as the Healthcare and Human Resources
WSQ, to ensure its relevancy to industry.

•

An Extensive Network of Quality CET Training Providers
As at end FY10, WDA had built up a strong network of about 50 CET Centres and 500 Approved
Training Organisations covering a wide range of industries. CET Centres are CET providers which
not only offer quality training but also provide value-added job matching and career counselling
services. Of these, four are new CET Centres launched in FY10 including Mendaki SENSE, Capelle
Academy, FZD School of Design and SingHealth Alice Lee Institute of Advanced Nursing.

•

Career Centres at the Frontline of Helping Workers
In FY10, WDA’s career centres at the Community Development Councils (CDCs) and NTUC’s
Employment and Employability Institute (e2i) collectively helped about 27,000 workers find jobs. Of
the job-seekers placed by the WDA career centres, about 73 % were rank-and-file workers with
secondary or less education. 60 % were aged 40 years and above.
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In the spotlight:

SINGAPORE
GENERAL HOSPITAL
Dedicated to providing quality care to all its patients,
Singapore General Hospital (SGH) strongly believes that
WSQ training is a means to achieve that goal. SGH is one
of the key healthcare institutions to mandate full Healthcare
Support (HCS) WSQ training for new healthcare support
workers. Besides training, SGH integrated HCS WSQ into
the SGH Human Resource (HR) system where recruitment
and promotion are pegged to the attainment of WSQ
qualifications. The SingHealth Alice Lee Institute of Advanced
Nursing (IAN), the nursing training arm of SGH was appointed
as the CET Centre for Healthcare Support WSQ in July
2010, in recognition of its role in actively rolling out quality
HCS WSQ programmes. Besides training, Alice Lee IAN
further supports the development of the workforce by
providing career advisory and job matching services.

An Established Pool of Adult Trainers
WDA’s Institute for Adult Learning is at the forefront of enhancing the capabilities and professionalism of adult educators
by establishing clear professional standards for CET design and delivery, and inculcating skill sets to broaden and
deepen their expertise. In FY10, IAL trained more than 1,800 adult educators through the Advanced Certificate in
Training and Assessment (ACTA). Supporting the acquisition of higher level competencies, IAL hosts advanced degree
programmes in adult education — the Master of Arts Degree in Lifelong Learning by the Institute of Education (IOE) at
the University of London and the Masters of Training and Development by Griffith University. To date, the two programmes
have attracted a total of 65 learners.
In order to provide additional learning and collaboration platforms, in FY10, IAL offered 40 seminars, workshops,
symposium and overseas study visits through its Adult Educators Network (AEN) to its 1,000 strong members. To
encourage deepening of critical knowledge and practice, AEN facilitated the formation of Special Interest Groups (SIG).
As of March 2011, there were five SIGs established, namely Instructional Design; Coaching and Mentorin; Facilitation;
Technology and Research in CET.
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Partnering the Industries and
Unions
The development of our CET system would
not be possible without the close
collaboration between WDA partners i.e.
industries and unions. Some highlights of
collaboration are:
WDA worked with seven unionised
industrial partners (Singapore Power
Group, City Gas, Senoko Energy,
PowerSeraya, Tuas Power, Sembcorp
Industries and Keppel Merlimau Cogen)
and Union of Power and Gas
Employees (UPAGE) to launch the
Energy Utilities WSQ on 20 May 2010.
WDA has signed a Memorandum of
Understanding with its tripartite partners
to commit to adopting the framework.
Some 8,000 professionals and
technicians in the energy utilities industry
are set to benefit from the new
framework.
To help locals gain new skills and move up into higher value added jobs, WDA partnered key industry stakeholders
in launching the Train and Promote scheme. Through this initiative, companies such as the Harry’s International,
Resorts World at Sentosa and Wildlife Reserves Singapore were able to identify key occupations and partner WDA
to develop a structured WSQ training roadmap and build a pipeline of skilled talent to meet their manpower needs.
Close to 500 locals will benefit through career advancement under the scheme.
WDA worked with the industry to revise the Nursing Care specialisation track under the Healthcare Support WSQ
framework so as to equip Patient Care Assistants with the necessary competencies to serve effectively and be
deployable in both acute as well as Intermediate and Long Term Care (ILTC) settings. This aims to provide a
seamless continuum of care to patients by strengthening the manpower skills and productivity of ILTC providers
and thus free up resources at acute hospitals.
A new $3 million Creative Industries Apprenticeship Scheme was launched in May 2010 at the second
Creative Industries Fair. More than 40 companies in the Creative Industries have benefitted from the scheme by
placing over 120 new hires in their companies. These apprentices undergo training in WSQ courses and a structured
apprenticeship programme with the employers. Companies such as GroupM and Mediacorp have benefitted from
the scheme.
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Growing recognition of the benefits of CET
In WDA’s 2010 survey tracking the recognition and
adoption of WSQ, 20.6% of 16,900 companies
surveyed indicated that they had sent workers for
WSQ training, used WSQ in hiring, given internships
to WSQ trainees or aligned their in-house courses
to WSQ, compared to 12.3% the year before.
Significantly, the percentage of smaller companies
with 99 or less employees adopting WSQ training
doubled from 8.4% last year to 16.8% in 2010.
In addition, the other WDA annual survey on the
effectiveness of WSQ training showed the positive
impact of our CET system and the growing
recognition of its benefits:
• 92% of companies and 87% of trainees surveyed
experienced better work performance after
training;
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•

65% of companies surveyed found that WSQ
training had a positive impact on their
productivity;

•

Over 80% of trainees and companies surveyed
indicated interest to continue with other WSQ
training programmes.
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Refresh

Our aim is for workers to adopt lifelong learning as
their ethos and continually refresh their skills; and
for companies to integrate CET as part of their
business strategy to stay competitive. For FY11,
WDA will continue to refresh the CET system by
strengthening the infrastructure and encouraging
workers and companies alike to adopt CET.
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A CET System for the
Workforce of the Future

WDA is re-adapting Singapore’s CET system to the changing profiles of our workforce and the changing
demands of the global economy. In FY11, WDA will continue to refresh its approach to support the
National Productivity and Continuing Education Council (NPCEC) agenda to drive productivity and
enhance the CET infrastructure to raise the quality of CET training.
•

Update WSQ to maintain its relevancy to the workplace
WDA will review and update the current WSQ frameworks and launch new WSQ frameworks.
In FY11, WDA expects to launch frameworks for Assembly & Test, Public Transport, Port Services,
Intellectual Property and Clinical Research.

•

Raise the quality of CET institutions
WDA will work with local CET providers and best-in-class foreign institutions to raise the skills level
of our workforce. For example, WDA will partner William Angliss Institute (WAI), an Australian based
specialist training centre in tourism, to establish an Integrated Continuing Education and Training
(CET) Centre for the Tourism Industry. WAI brings along 70 years of experience in providing competency
based training for the workforce. With its expertise in areas such as workplace learning and curriculum
design, employers and workers can look forward to increased accessibility to high quality training
programmes. Other upcoming collaborations include the launch of the Professional Development
Programmes for the Electronics industry with Tianjin University, University of Central Florida and
NTU’s Centre for Continuing Education, and the design of a new WSQ Graduation Diploma in Food
Technology with Massey University, renowned for its food education.
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WDA’s 2011 plans:

BUILDING CET CENTRES
OF THE FUTURE
To help our workforce get an edge, WDA is looking towards developing CET
Centres which will provide a rich learning experience which would motivate them
and provide opportunities to explore their full potential. One such centre is the
integrated CET Centre for Tourism which WDA will setup in partnership with William
Angliss Institute. Its core strength of this new Centre is in “integrated-training”,
which means equipping the worker with relevant cross-functional training. For
instance, a hotel concierge can be trained in hotel front desk skills, as well as tour
guiding & travel services skills. Besides having an open physical architecture
conducive to learning, the two upcoming CET Campuses will be a focal point for
networking sessions and career seminars. These new generation centres will no
doubt make training an enjoyable and rewarding experience.

•

Nurture a vibrant and dynamic community of CET professionals
IAL aims to reach out to all CET professionals who perform specialised roles
throughout the entire CET value chain. IAL, through the Adult Educators
Network, will provide CET professionals with relevant continuing professional
development opportunities to enhance their professional capabilities and
innovations to improve CET effectiveness. Besides the WSQ programmes, a
full suite of continuous professional development opportunities will be made
available to the CET professionals. They will be able to learn together and have
a platform for collaborations whenever an opportunity arises.

•

Develop high quality training programmes to provide more CET pathways
WDA will build upon the existing CET infrastructure to build more pathways
for workers to develop their potential. For example, WDA will collaborate with
Edinburgh Napier University (ENU) to launch a Master of Science (MSc) in
Clinical Research. This programme provides clinical research professionals
with opportunities to become clinical research managers. In addition, WDA will
roll out Master Classes Series for the biomedical sciences industry, in particular
the Nantechnology and Biofuel sectors which are gaining importance in the
environmental and efficiency age in Singapore.
Master classes for the Creative Industries will also be introduced to provide
creative professionals with more training options. For a start, a HealthcareDesign master class will be piloted to bring together WSQ design trainees,
healthcare and design professionals on a cross-fertilisation platform to produce
prototypes or proof-of-concept designs for the healthcare industry.

•

Help companies drive their productivity initiatives
WDA will continue to help companies improve their productivity and promote
service innovation. In FY11, WDA will launch the ‘Empowering Efficiency and
Excellence’ productivity programme to equip senior management within the
Manufacturing and Service sectors, with knowledge and skills to drive business
process re-engineering activities within their organizations.
To boost customer-centric capabilities and raise service innovation capabilities
in businesses, a suite of Service Innovation Programmes will be introduced to
transform customer experience and to spur business growth. The suite of
programmes adopts a holistic training approach by targeting staff from
operations, supervisory and managerial levels with knowledge, mindset and
skills to innovate and drive service innovation within their organisations,
specifically in the area of customer service.
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WDA’s 2011 plans:

FUTURE OUTREACH
TO WORKERS TRADITIONAL AND
NON-TRADITIONAL MEANS
What has Mediacorp actor Chen Hanwei and Facebook have in common? They have been
in the forefront of spreading the message of lifelong re-training. WDA has used different
means of reaching out to workers including the use of skits at Workfare Training Support
(WTS) roadshows featuring well known personalities. As Singaporeans become more
technology savvy, WDA will be using social media and internet to reach out to technophiles.
For example, for WDA’s Creative Industries Career Fair in 2011, interested persons will be
able to follow the event on Facebook and Twitter. Besides social media, WDA will be
enhancing its website to become a one stop centre for training and job-seeking information
such as training courses and labour market information (e.g. average pay for occupations).
Nevertheless, conventional means will still be used for outreach to the less technology
savvy, including roadshows.

WDA has started the development of Occupational Hygiene (OH)
Professionals WSQ framework in collaboration with MOM and Workplace
Safety and Health (WSH) Council. The framework development is
targeted to be completed by end of Q3 2011. This programme is in
line with MOM’s strategy to improve productivity through raising the
workplace safety and health standards. The demand of the profession
is expected to increase as the WSH Act expands progressively to cover
all workplaces by September 2011. It aims to train a pool of 5,000
OH Officers by 2018 to assist industry stakeholders in managing
workplace health risks.
Also in the pipeline is the “LEAN Productivity Enterprise Development
Programme”. It is a training and consultancy programme jointly developed
by SIA Engineering Company (SIAEC) and the Singapore Workforce
Development Agency (WDA). The programme which is expected to
be launched in July 2011, aims to provide consultancy and training
to aerospace companies so as to develop and implement productivity and business innovation initiatives
at their workplace. The programme targets to impart competencies such as problem identification, application
of lean tools to develop solutions and implement solutions at the workplace and be more productive.
WDA will also launch more programmes to assist SMEs in their productivity drive. The programmes entitled
SME QIANG (Quality Initiatives to Assist, Nurture and Grow) aims to groom productivity champions within
the SMEs to facilitate change and productivity improvements throughout the organisation.
•

Improve assessment efficiency
WDA adopted the Business Chinese Test (BCT) developed by Hanban and Peking University as the
assessment tool for the Chinese Workplace Literacy programme. In 2009, WDA and Hanban signed an
Agreement to convert the computer-based BCT to computer adaptive testing (CAT) to further improve testtaking experience and efficiency. The CAT system will be launched in September 2011 and will be the first
Business Chinese computer adaptive test worldwide.

•

Encouraging workers to attain full qualifications
Our CET system provides the flexibility to deliver training through small bite-sized modules so that a trainee
can selectively train in the skills he needs. Nevertheless, attaining a full qualification, through the completion
of a requisite set of modules, gives trainees a more comprehensive repertoire of skills. The CET Qualifications
Award was launched in March 2011 to reward and encourage Singaporeans to persevere and attain their
first WSQ qualification. This one-time award of $1,000 is given to Singaporeans who attain a WSQ Diploma
or Specialist Diploma, and $200 for a WSQ Certificate, Higher Certificate or Advanced Certificate.
With a technologically savvy workforce, WDA will explore new ways of reaching out to the workforce including
the use of social media and enhancing the capabilities of the website.
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Short note on expenses
and disbursements for FY10
Table 1 shows the total grant disbursements and operating expenditure of WDA in the past
4 years. The total grant disbursed for FY 10 was $330m, a 4% decrease as compared to
FY 09 whilst the total operating expenses in FY 10 increased by 34% from the preceding year.
The slight drop in grant disbursement was primarily due to scaling back of grant subsidies due
to the end of Skills Programme for Upgrading and Resilience (SPUR) in November 2010.
The SPUR programme is a two year programme which gave higher subsidies for training to help
companies and individuals cope with the economic downturn. Despite the drop in disbursement,
the volume of disbursements handled in FY 10 increased by 47% mainly from the application
driven programmes. WDA has also stepped up its promotion efforts to reach out to employers
and workers about the importance of skills upgrading, introduction of new Workforce Skills
Qualifications (WSQ) frameworks to meet the industry needs as well as moving into more niche
sectors and new areas like the Professionals, Managers, Executives and Technicians. All these
led to the increase in total operating expenses which was mainly driven by higher manpower costs
required to cope with the increased volume and expansion of WDA’s work.

Table 1 Total Grant Disbursements and Operating Expenditure
FY07

FY081

FY09

FY101

Description

1

Percentage
$ million

$ million

$ million

$ million

Change in FY10

Grant Disbursement

$167.14

$175.36

$345.09

$329.65

-4%

Volume of Grant
Transactions

56,059

46,818

51,869

76,273

47%

Total Operating
Expenditure

$44.71

$48.52

$63.75

$85.15

34%

There is a change in funding rate in FY08 and FY10.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“the Agency”) set out on
pages 4 to 38, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2011, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement
of changes in capital and accumulated surplus and the cash flow statement for the financial year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
AGENCY’S MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Agency’s management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Singapore Workforce Agency Act, Cap. 305D (the “Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting
Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance
that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition, that transactions are properly authorised and that
they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to
maintain accountability of assets.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the Agency’s management as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements of the Agency are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and
Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Agency as at 31 March
2011, and the results, changes in capital and accumulated surplus and cash flows of the Agency for the financial year ended on
that date.
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Agency have been properly kept in accordance
with the provisions of the Act.
During the course of our audit, nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that the receipt, expenditure and investments
of monies and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Agency during the financial year have not been in accordance with
the provisions of the Act.

Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants
Singapore, 5 August 2011
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

Notes

Operating income

3

Other income

4

Other gains/(losses) - net

5

Expenditure
- Amortisation of intangible assets
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- Employee compensation
- Grant disbursements
- Rental expenses on operating leases
- Professional services
- Maintenance expenses
- Supplies and materials
- Public relations
- Travel expenses
- Agency fee paid to Central Provident Fund Board
- GST expenses
- Temporary staff cost
- Course-related trainer’s fees
- Cancellable operating lease expenses
- Others

13
12
6

Deficit before Government grants
Grants from the Government

7

(Deficit)/Surplus before contribution to Consolidated Fund
Contribution to Consolidated Fund
Net (deficit)/surplus for the financial year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive (loss)/income

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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8

General fund
$

2011
Restricted funds
$

Total
$

General fund
$

2010
Restricted funds
$

Total
$

1,694,517

1,501,078

3,195,595

1,307,407

1,755,622

3,063,029

81,782

1,557

83,339

80,281

2,554

82,835

21

248

269

88,247

(31,661)

56,586

(1,843,654)
(1,061,516)
(43,782,923)
(973,793)
(3,750,155)
(8,995,240)
(4,496,222)
(1,518,536)
(210,795)
(465,203)
(594,763)
(1,425,294)
(1,880,333)
(1,659,629)
(1,760,632)

(37,668)
(504,983)
(5,716,668)
(93,694,108)
(438,853)
(459,385)
(391,579)
(698,700)
(67,220)
(21,854)
(263,150)
(296,383)
(2,561,156)
(237,928)

(1,881,322)
(1,566,499)
(49,499,591)
(94,667,901)
(4,189,008)
(9,454,625)
(4,887,801)
(2,217,236)
(278,015)
(487,057)
(594,763)
(1,688,444)
(2,176,716)
(2,561,156)
(1,659,629)
(1,998,560)

(1,015,318)
(687,251)
(34,773,192)
(1,000,000)
(3,762,645)
(5,661,779)
(3,186,412)
(1,109,347)
(291,035)
(482,232)
(598,382)
(969,011)
(1,609,182)
(1,187,146)

(306,754)
(3,434,160)
(137,379,670)
(378,557)
(77,539)
(321,181)
(778,184)
(173,381)
(18,966)
(115,132)
(283,666)
(2,208,057)
(297,812)

(1,015,318)
(994,005)
(38,207,352)
(138,379,670)
(4,141,202)
(5,739,318)
(3,507,593)
(1,887,531)
(464,416)
(501,198)
(598,382)
(1,084,143)
(1,892,848)
(2,208,057)
(1,484,958)

(74,418,688)

(105,389,635)

(179,808,323)

(56,332,932)

(145,773,059)

(202,105,991)

(72,642,368)

(103,886,752)

(176,529,120)

(54,856,997)

(144,046,544)

(198,903,541)

72,257,158

103,887,054

176,144,212

48,678,234

144,140,731

192,818,965

(385,210)

302

(384,908)

(6,178,763)

94,187

(6,084,576)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(385,210)

302

(384,908)

(6,178,763)

94,187

(6,084,576)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(385,210)

302

(384,908)

(6,178,763)

94,187

(6,084,576)

TAN PHENG HOCK
Chairman
Date: 5 August 2011

WONG HONG KUAN
Chief Executive
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Balance Sheet
As at 31 March 2011

Notes

2011
$

2010
$

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank deposits
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets

9
10
11

28,436,220
13,761,312
1,352,334
43,549,866

26,626,268
640,075
1,849,576
29,115,919

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

12
13

5,877,063
8,168,652
14,045,715

4,158,756
7,113,435
11,272,191

57,595,581

40,388,110

21,261,518
168,871
5,640,905
27,071,294

8,192,772
4,579,002
12,771,774

1,437,513
12,571,396
14,008,909

10,716,050
10,716,050

Total liabilities

41,080,203

23,487,824

Net assets

16,515,378

16,900,286

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Other payables
Provision for reinstatement of property, plant and equipment
Government grants received in advance

14
15

Non-current liabilities
Provision for reinstatement of property, plant and equipment
Deferred Government capital grants

16

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Balance Sheet
As at 31 March 2011

Notes

EQUITY
Capital account
Share capital
Accumulated surplus
- General fund
- Restricted funds

17

18

Net assets of trust funds
Skills Development Fund
Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund
Skills Redevelopment Programme

19
20
21

TAN PHENG HOCK
Chairman

WONG HONG KUAN
Chief Executive

Date: 5 August 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

7

WDA Financial Statements 2010/11

2011
$

2010
$

7,872,073
1,000

7,872,073
1,000

7,504,936
1,137,369
8,642,305

7,890,146
1,137,067
9,027,213

16,515,378

16,900,286

1,132,260,195
4,238,893
10,000
1,136,509,088

1,033,964,985
4,671,476
5,505,364
1,044,141,825

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Statement of Changes in Capital and
Accumulated Surplus
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

Capital
account*

$

Share
capital
General
fund
$

$

Accumulated surplus
Restricted
funds
$

Total
Subtotal
$

$

2011
Beginning of financial year

7,872,073

1,000

7,890,146

1,137,067

9,027,213

16,900,286

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the financial year

-

-

(385,210)

302

(384,908)

(384,908)

End of financial year

7,872,073

1,000

7,504,936

1,137,369

8,642,305

16,515,378

2010
Beginning of financial year

7,872,073

1,000

14,068,909

1,042,880

15,111,789

22,984,862

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the financial year

-

-

(6,178,763)

94,187

(6,084,576)

(6,084,576)

7,872,073

1,000

7,890,146

1,137,067

9,027,213

16,900,286

End of financial year

*

The capital account represents the Government’s capital contribution for the establishment of the Singapore Workforce Development Agency.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Cash Flow Statement

For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Deficit for the financial year before Government grants
Adjustments for:
- Amortisation and depreciation
- Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
- Interest income
Change in working capital
- Trade and other receivables
- Other current assets
- Other payables
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Interest received
Net proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Grants received from Government - net
Net cash generated from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

9
9

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2011
$

2010
$

(176,529,120)

(198,903,541)

3,447,821
61,591
(64,080)
(173,083,788)

2,009,323
(56,586)
(77,293)
(197,028,097)

(10,994,370)
497,242
14,675,130
(168,905,786)

2,136,097
(269,739)
737,969
(194,423,770)

(6,282,936)
30,785
(6,252,151)

(4,488,573)
80,058
94,236
(4,314,279)

176,967,889
176,967,889

190,432,992
190,432,992

1,809,952
26,626,268
28,436,220

(8,305,057)
34,931,325
26,626,268

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“the Agency”) was established in The Republic of Singapore under the
Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act, Cap. 305D. The address of the registered office and principal place of
operations of the Agency is No. 1 Marina Boulevard #16-01 One Marina Boulevard, Singapore 018989.
The principal activities of the Agency are:
(a) to serve as the national body in the areas of adult continuing education and training, and the facilitation of employment
and re-employment, and to advise and make recommendations to the Government on matters, measures and regulations
connected with such areas, including formulation of policies, and the provision of infrastructure and facilities in relation
to such areas;
(b) to promote, facilitate and assist in the development of adult continuing education and training so as to enhance the
competitiveness and employability of the Singapore workforce;
(c) to collaborate with industries and economic agencies to identify and promote the enhancement of industry-specific skills;
(d) to promote the development, competitiveness and employability of the Singapore workforce through co-ordination with
economic agencies;
(e) to support, facilitate and assist in the re-employment of unemployed or retrenched persons through job referral, retraining,
upgrading of skills and other employment facilitation efforts;
(f)

to enhance, promote and support the use and improvement of best practices in the management of human capital and
workforce skills development in Singapore;

(g) to encourage, promote and facilitate the development of the human resources industry in Singapore;
(h) to promote, facilitate and assist in the identification, development and upgrading of skills and competencies required of
the workforce to support Singapore’s economy;
(i)

to support, direct, encourage and undertake research in adult continuing education and training;

(j)

to direct, promote and facilitate the upgrading of adult continuing education and training infrastructure, and the upgrading
of professional standards of adult trainers;

(k) to establish and implement regulatory policies, codes of practice, strategies, measures or any other requirements so as
to enhance the professional standards of adult continuing education and training offered in Singapore;
(l)

to administer programmes for adult continuing education and training;
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
The principal activities of the Agency are: (continued)
(m) to undertake the promotion of lifelong learning and to create, foster and encourage public awareness and understanding
of the importance of lifelong learning;
(n) to administer the Skills Development Fund (“the SDF”) in accordance with the Skills Development Levy Act (Cap. 306);
(o) to provide financial support by way of grants, loans or otherwise so as to give effect to the functions and objects of the
Agency;
(p) to undertake, direct and support the analysis and dissemination of labour market information and trends to the public;
(q) to represent the Government internationally in respect of matters relating to adult continuing education and training and
public employment services; and
(r)

2.

to carry out such other functions as are imposed upon the Agency by or under the Act or any other written law.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards
(SB-FRS), established by the Accountant – General’s Department. The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies as below.
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with SB-FRS requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Agency’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates and assumptions. There are no areas of significant estimates or judgement used in the preparation of these
financial statements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2010
On 1 April 2010, the Agency adopted the new or amended SB-FRS that is mandatory for application from that date.
Changes to the Agency’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with the relevant transitional
provisions in the respective SB-FRS.
The adoption of these new or amended SB-FRS did not result in substantial changes to the Agency’s accounting
policies and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2

Income recognition
(a) Workers’ assessment fees, application fees and course fees
(i)

Workers’ assessment fees are recognised when the assessment tests are undertaken.

(ii)

Application fees are recognised when the application to be an approved training organisation or application
for courses’ accreditation have been approved.

(iii) Course fees are recognised upon attendance of the courses by the participants.
(b) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
2.3

Trust funds
Trust funds are funds where the Agency is not the owner and beneficiary of. The Agency is merely administering the
funds on behalf of the holders of these funds. The income and expenditure of these funds are taken to the funds
accounts and the net assets relating to these funds are shown as separate line items on the balance sheet. Trust funds
include the following: Skills Development Fund, Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund and Skills Redevelopment Programme.
Trust funds are accounted for on an accrual basis, except for the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund which is accounted
for on a cash basis. From 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010, the absentee payroll under Skills Redevelopment Programme
was funded by the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund. With effect 1 April 2010, it is funded by Skills Development
Fund.

2.4

Grants from the Government
The Agency receives various types of grants to meet its operating and development expenditure. The various types
of grants received are disclosed in Notes 15 and 16 of the financial statements.
Government grants received for the purchase or the construction of depreciable assets are accounted for as deferred
capital grants. The deferred capital grants are amortised and charged to income and expenditure over the period
necessary to match the annual depreciation charge of these assets or when the assets are disposed or written off.
Where the grants relate to an expense item, it is recognised in income and expenditure over the periods necessary to
match them on a systematic basis, to the costs, which it is intended to compensate.
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and all attached
conditions will be complied with.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.5

Deferred Government capital grant
The deferred Government capital grant is amortised and charged to income and expenditure over the periods necessary
to match the depreciation of the property, plant and equipment financed by the related grant. On disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment, the balance of the related grant is recognised in income and expenditure to match
the net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment disposed.

2.6

Employee compensation
(a) Defined contribution plans
The Agency’s contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as employee compensation expense
when the contributions are due, unless they can be capitalised as an asset.
(b) Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

2.7

Operating leases
The Agency leases certain property, plant and equipment from third parties.
Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained
by the lessors are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessors) are recognised in income and expenditure on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.8

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to the
carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Agency and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate depreciable amounts over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Useful lives
8 years
5 years
3 to 5 years

Furniture and fittings
Office equipment
Computer equipment
No depreciation is charged on construction-in-progress.

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are reviewed,
and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in income and
expenditure when the changes arise.
2.9

Intangible assets
Acquired computer software
Acquired computer software are initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any discounts
and rebates) and other directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. Costs associated with
maintaining the computer software are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Computer software are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. These costs are amortised to income and expenditure using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives of three to five years.
No amortisation is charged on assets under development.
The amortisation period and amortisation method of the intangible assets are reviewed and adjusted as appropriate,
at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in income and expenditure when the changes
arise.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10

Impairment of non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication that
these assets may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised
as an impairment loss in income and expenditure.
An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of this asset is
increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in income and expenditure.

2.11

Cash and bank deposits
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank deposits and trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction cost and
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less accumulated impairment losses.
The Agency assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that these financial assets are
impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists. Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default or significant delay in payments are objective
evidence that these financial assets are impaired.
The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which is calculated
as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the original effective interest rate.

2.12

Other payables
Other payables are initially recognised at their fair values, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

2.13

Provisions
Provisions for other liabilities and charges are recognised when the Agency has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.14

Cash and bank deposits
Cash and bank deposits include cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in values, deposits held at call with a central Government agency and centralised liquidity management
(“CLM”) deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Departments (“AGD”) (i.e. Centralised Liquidity
Management deposits).
Under the Accountant-General Circular No.4/2009 dated 2 November 2009, the Agency is required to participate in
the Centralised Liquidity Management Framework (“CLM”). Under the CLM, all bank accounts maintained with selected
banks will be linked up with AGD’s bank accounts such that excess available cash can be automatically aggregated
for central management on a daily basis. The Agency will continue to own/act as trustees for their funds and operate
its bank accounts, including giving instructions for payment and revenue collection. These balances are included in
cash and cash equivalents as “Central Liquidity Management (“CLM”) deposits held with Ministry of Finance, AccountantGeneral’s Department”.

2.15

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.

2.16

Contribution to Consolidated Fund
The contribution to the Consolidated Fund is required under Section 3(a) of the Statutory Corporations (Contribution
to Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap. 319A). The contribution is pegged at the prevailing statutory income tax rate for
corporate bodies.
Accounting surplus would be used for the purpose of computing the Contribution and this is accounted for on an
accrual basis.

2.17

Currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the functional currency of the Agency.
Transactions in a currency other than Singapore Dollar (“foreign currency”) are translated into Singapore Dollar using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are recognised in income and expenditure.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

3.

OPERATING INCOME

Workers’ assessment fees
Application fees
Course fees
Total operating income

4.

2010
$

1,493,917
221,399
1,480,279
3,195,595

1,111,500
210,907
1,740,622
3,063,029

2011
$

2010
$

19,294
44,786
19,259
83,339

77,293
5,542
82,835

2011
$

2010
$

269
269

56,586
56,586

OTHER INCOME

Interest income from:
- short-term bank deposits
- CLM deposits with Ministry of Finance, Accountant – General’s Department
Other
Total other income

5.

2011
$

OTHER GAINS - NET

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Currency translation gains
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

6.

EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

Wages and salaries
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund
Staff training and benefits

2011
$

2010
$

43,108,231
5,114,916
1,276,444
49,499,591

33,533,522
4,064,225
609,605
38,207,352

2011
$

2010
$

5,509,283
194,335
5,703,618

4,260,521
167,717
4,428,238

Included in employee compensation is key management’s remuneration as follows:

Wages and salaries
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund

Key management refers to employees designated as Directors and above who have the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Agency.

7.

GRANTS FROM THE GOVERNMENT

Government grants :
- Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”) (Note 15)
- Institute of Adult Learning (“IAL”) (Note 15)
- Skills Programme for Upgrading and Resilience (“SPUR”) (Note 15)
- Re-investment Fund- Continuing Education and Training (“RF-CET”) (Note 15)
- Workfare Training Scheme (Note 15)
- Operating grants (Note 15)

Amortisation of deferred Government capital grants (Note 16)
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2011
$

2010
$

203,530
9,566,870
67,000,000
26,693,586
69,859,020
173,323,006

146
6,584,052
137,130,000
47,245,085
190,959,283

2,821,206
176,144,212

1,859,682
192,818,965

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

8.

CONTRIBUTION TO CONSOLIDATED FUND
The Agency is exempted from Singapore Income Tax under Section 13(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.
The contribution to the Consolidated Fund is required under Section 3(a) of the Statutory Corporations (Contributions to
Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap. 319A). The contribution is based on the prevailing statutory corporate income tax rate of 17%
(2010: 17%) on any surplus before contribution to Consolidated Fund for the financial year.
There is no contribution for the financial years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 as the Agency is in a net deficit
position for both financial years.

9.

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS

Centralised Liquidity Management (”CLM”)deposits held with
the Ministry of Finance, Accountant- General’s Department
Deposits held at call with the Ministry of Finance,
Accountant-General’s Department
Short-term bank deposits
Cash at bank and on hand

2011
$

2010
$

20,958,292

-

7,444,076
33,852
28,436,220

8,401,915
16,600,000
1,624,353
26,626,268

Centralised Liquidity Management (”CLM”) deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department
(“AGD”) earned interest based on fixed deposit rates determined by the financial institutions with which AGD deposits
the monies.
Deposits held at call with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department are non-interest bearing.
The short-term bank deposits as at 31 March 2010 had an average maturity of 3 months from the end of the financial year
with a weighted average effective interest rate of 0.29% per annum.
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Amount due from LLEF
Grant receivable from Ministry of Manpower

2011
$

2010
$

422,446
245,293
2,093,573
11,000,000
13,761,312

313,430
326,645
640,075

2011
$

2010
$

1,236,897
115,437
1,352,334

1,232,497
617,079
1,849,576

11. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Deposits
Prepayments
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture
and fittings
$

Office
equipment
$

Computer
equipment
$

Construction
-in-progress
$

Total
$

2011
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Reclassifications
Disposals
End of financial year

6,491,946
1,747,972
371,936
(14,552)
8,597,302

967,533
41,308
3,403
(2,280)
1,009,964

1,658,301
422,704
(15,503)
2,065,502

321,711
1,083,857
(375,339)
1,030,229

9,439,491
3,295,841
(32,335)
12,702,997

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Depreciation charge
Disposals
End of financial year

3,006,462
1,291,362
(2,425)
4,295,399

823,090
58,689
(2,280)
879,499

1,451,183
216,448
(16,595)
1,651,036

-

5,280,735
1,566,499
(21,300)
6,825,934

Net book value
End of financial year

4,301,903

130,465

414,466

1,030,229

5,877,063

2010
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Reclassifications
Disposals
End of financial year

5,616,537
100,591
911,208
(136,390)
6,491,946

931,262
13,064
34,807
(11,600)
967,533

2,283,837
114,373
(739,909)
1,658,301

38,700
1,229,026
(946,015)
321,711

8,870,336
1,457,054
(887,899)
9,439,491

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Depreciation charge
Disposals
End of financial year

2,300,420
723,462
(17,420)
3,006,462

761,604
68,053
(6,567)
823,090

1,911,214
202,490
(662,521)
1,451,183

-

4,973,238
994,005
(686,508)
5,280,735

Net book value
End of financial year

3,485,484

144,443

207,118

321,711

4,158,756
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13. INTANGIBLES ASSETS
Computer
software
$

Assets under
development
$

Total
$

2011
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Reclassifications
Disposals
End of financial year

7,220,662
371,971
3,008,509
(70,000)
10,531,142

1,142,892
2,615,124
(3,008,509)
749,507

8,363,554
2,987,095
(70,000)
11,280,649

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Amortisation charge
Disposals
End of financial year

1,250,119
1,881,322
(19,444)
3,111,997

-

1,250,119
1,881,322
(19,444)
3,111,997

Net book value
End of financial year

7,419,145

749,507

8,168,652

2010
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Reclassifications
End of financial year

435,396
140,102
6,645,164
7,220,662

4,896,639
2,891,417
(6,645,164)
1,142,892

5,332,035
3,031,519
8,363,554

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Amortisation charge
End of financial year

234,801
1,015,318
1,250,119

-

234,801
1,015,318
1,250,119

Net book value
End of financial year

5,970,543

1,142,892

7,113,435

22

WDA Financial Statements 2010/11

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

14. OTHER PAYABLES

Other payables
Accrued operating expenses
Advance receipts

2011
$

2010
$

9,442,837
11,334,182
484,499
21,261,518

2,928,209
5,030,525
234,038
8,192,772

2011
$

2010
$

3,180,538
2,460,367
5,640,905

2,454,066
2,082,936
42,000
4,579,002

15. GOVERNMENT GRANTS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE
(a) Government grants received in advance for:

- Workfare Training Support (“WTS”)
- Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”)
- Institute of Adult Learning (“IAL”)
- National Skills Recognition System (“NSRS”)
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15. GOVERNMENT GRANTS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE (CONTINUED)
(b) Movements in Government grants received in advance:
MDAS
$

NSRS
$

CES
$

-

42,000
42,000

2,454,066
945,981
3,400,047

-

(42,000)
-

(203,530)
(736,149)
-

-

(42,000)

(939,679)

-

-

2,460,368

5,879,636
5,879,636
(5,879,636)
(5,879,636)

42,000
42,000
-

2,448,625
238,227
2,686,852
(146)
(232,640)
(232,786)

-

42,000

2,454,066

2011
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Grants received in the financial year

Transfer to income and expenditure (Note 7)
Transfer to deferred capital grants (Note 16)
Unutilised grant returned to Government
Transfer to amount due from LLEF (Note 10)

Balance at the end of financial year

2010
Balance at the beginning of financial year
Grants received in the financial year
Transfer to income and expenditure (Note 7)
Transfer to deferred capital grants (Note 16)
Unutilised grant returned to Government

Balance at the end of financial year
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IAL
$

SPUR
$

RF-CET
$

WTS
$

Operating grants
$

Total
$

2,082,936
6,524,056
8,606,992

-

67,000,000
67,000,000

30,000,000
30,000,000

72,539,852
72,539,852

4,579,002
177,009,889
181,588,891

(9,566,870)
(1,133,695)
-

-

(67,000,000)
-

(26,693,586)
(125,876)
-

(69,859,020)
(2,680,832)
-

(173,323,006)
(4,676,552)
(42,000)

2,093,573
(8,606,992)

-

(67,000,000)

(26,819,462)

(72,539,852)

2,093,573
(175,947,985)

-

-

-

3,180,538

-

5,640,906

1,222,381
8,394,401
9,616,782
(6,584,052)
(949,794)
(7,533,846)

137,130,000
137,130,000
(137,130,000)
(137,130,000)

-

-

50,550,000
50,550,000
(47,245,085)
(3,304,915)
(50,550,000)

9,592,642
196,312,628
205,905,270
(190,959,283)
(4,487,349)
(5,879,636)
(201,326,268)

2,082,936

-

-

-

-

4,579,002
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15. GOVERNMENT GRANTS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE (CONTINUED)
Manpower Development Assistance Scheme
The Manpower Development Assistance Scheme (“MDAS”) was set up in February 2000 with a Government commitment of
$200 million over 5 years, from FY2000 to FY2004. It is targeted at industry-wide initiatives aimed at enhancing workforce
capabilities through the Workforce Development Programmes, National Skills Recognition System (“NSRS”) and Learning
Infrastructure Development. A cashflow extension was further approved to fund programmes committed before FY2004 and
lasted till FY2008. Consequently, unutilised funds were returned to the Ministry of Manpower (“MOM”) in June 2009 and
February 2010.
National Skills Recognition System
The National Skills Recognition System (“NSRS”) is a national framework for establishing work performance standards,
identifying job competencies and certifying skills acquisition. The programme is funded by MDAS up to FY2004. It has since
been funded by the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“LLEF”) from FY2005. In FY2005, the programme ended. Subsequently,
the unutilised funds were returned in June 2010.
Centre for Employability Skills
In November 1998, the Bukit Merah Skills Development Centre (“BMSDC”) was established as part of the off-budget measure
to offer full-time training facilities for workers and to expand training resources for companies in Singapore. In 2007, the centre
was repositioned into a Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”) which co-ordinates and delivers courses, appraises and assesses
workers’ and trainees’ skills and provides facilities for organisations to operate training and administer Employability Skills
System and Workforce Skills Qualification. The balance amount from the former BMSDC was transferred by the Institute of
Technical Education to the Agency. The centre manager was Nanyang Polytechnic in FY2005 and FY2006. In FY2007, WDA
took over the assessment function from NYP while appointing Employment and Employability Institute (“E2I”) as managing
agent of the premises for a period of 2 years from 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2009. WDA has since relinquished the Temporary
Occupation Licence for the premises with effect from 1 April 2009 and E2I has taken over the lease of the premises while
the assessment function still remains with WDA. Other operating costs of CES are funded by the operating grant.
Institute for Adult Learning
Institute for Adult Learning (IAL) was set up as a Division of the Agency in April 2008 as part of the CET Master Plan approved
by the Cabinet in December 2007. It is set up as a “Centre for Adult Pedagogy” to ensure high quality CET practices and
research among adult educators. The set up and operation of IAL is fully funded by the LLEF.
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15. GOVERNMENT GRANTS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE (CONTINUED)
Skills Programme for Upgrading and Resilience
Skills Programme for Upgrading and Resilience (“SPUR”) is a 2-year programme that started from 1 December 2008 to help
companies and workers manage the economic downturn and invest in skills for the recovery. To complement WDA’s existing
funds in implementing SPUR, the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) has committed to providing WDA additional funds for SPUR
programmes. The objectives of SPUR are to help companies manage excess manpower and reduce retrenchment, help local
workers, including those retrenched, upgrade skills and convert to new jobs and strengthen the country’s manpower capabilities
to better position the workforce for the upturn. The restricted fund for SPUR relates to the additional budget provided by the
MOM to support the SPUR programme.
Workfare Training Support
Workfare Training Support (“WTS”) is a 3-year scheme which started on 1 July 2010 introduced in the Government Budget
2010 to complement the Workfare Income Supplement (“WIS”). WTS aims to incentivise employers to send their low-waged
workers for training as well as to encourage low-waged workers to commit to sustained training efforts. While WIS encourages
older low-wage workers to work by supplementing their income and retirement savings, WTS encourages them to upgrade
their skills through training so that they can improve their employability, upgrade to better jobs and earn more.
Reinvestment Fund - Continuing Education & Training
The Re-investment Fund from the Ministry of Finance ("MOF") for Continuing Education & Training - Reinvestment Fund
("RF-CET") was introduced in the Government Budget 2010 for the implementation of the Skills Programme for Upgrading
and Resilience (SPUR) and other CET initiatives to strategise for Singapore’s sustained and inclusive growth. RF-CET is targeted
to further build up the current CET system to prepare the workforce for the future. This includes broadening the number of
sectors covered in CET, deepening the skills included and provides more upgrading pathways for the workforce.

16. DEFERRED GOVERNMENT CAPITAL GRANTS

At beginning of financial year
Transferred from Government grants received (Note 15)
Amortisation of deferred Government capital grants (Note 7)
At end of financial year

2011
S$

2010
S$

10,716,050
4,676,552
15,392,602
(2,821,206)
12,571,396

8,088,383
4,487,349
12,575,732
(1,859,682)
10,716,050

17. SHARE CAPITAL
The Agency’s share capital comprise fully paid up 1,000 (2010: 1,000) shares with no par value, amounting to a total of $1,000
(2010: $1,000).
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18. STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - RESTRICTED FUNDS
CES
2011
$
Income
Operating Income

IAL
2010
$

2011
$

2010
$

-

-

1,501,078

1,755,622

(538)

(721)

2,151

(28,386)

(34,477)
(33,285)
(166,848)
(2,524)
(33)
(237,167)

(35,930)
500
(9,310)
(1,843)
4,725
(525)
(42,383)

(18,118)
(470,506)
(5,716,668)
(124,520)
(438,853)
(426,100)
(391,579)
(531,852)
(67,220)
(21,854)
(136,436)
(296,383)
(2,561,156)
(237,895)
(11,439,140)

(270,824)
(3,434,160)
(249,670)
(378,557)
(78,039)
(311,871)
(776,341)
(173,381)
(18,966)
(119,857)
(283,666)
(2,208,057)
(297,287)
(8,600,676)

(Deficit)/Surplus before Government grants

(237,705)

(43,104)

(9,935,911)

(6,873,440)

Grants from the Government

238,007

137,291

9,935,911

6,873,440

302

94,187

-

-

-

-

-

-

302

94,187

-

-

Accumulated surplus brought forward

1,137,067

1,042,880

-

-

Accumulated surplus carried forward

1,137,369

1,137,067

-

-

Other income/(losses) - net
Less: Expenditure
- Amortisation of intangible assets
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- Employee compensation
- Grant disbursements
- Rental expenses on operating leases
- Professional services
- Maintenance expenses
- Supplies and materials
- Public relations
- Travel expenses
- Agency fee paid to Central Provident Board
- GST expenses
- Temporary staff cost
- Course-related trainer’s fees
- Others

Surplus before contribution to Consolidated Fund
Contribution to Consolidated Fund
Net surplus for the financial year
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SPUR
2011
$

2010
$

RE-CET
2011
$

WTS
2011
$

2010
$

2010
$

Total
2011
$

2010
$

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,501,078

1,755,622

-

-

192

-

-

-

1,805

(29,107)

-

(137,130,000)
(137,130,000)

(67,000,192)
(67,000,192)

-

(19,550)
(26,569,396)
(124,190)
(26,713,136)

-

(37,668)
(504,983)
(5,716,668)
(93,694,108)
(438,853)
(459,385)
(391,579)
(698,700)
(67,220)
(21,854)
(263,150)
(296,383)
(2,561,156)
(237,928)
(105,389,635)

(306,754)
(3,434,160)
(137,379,670)
(378,557)
(77,539)
(321,181)
(778,184)
(173,381)
(18,966)
(115,132)
(283,666)
(2,208,057)
(297,812)
(145,773,059)

-

(137,130,000)

(67,000,000)

-

(26,713,136)

-

(103,886,752)

(144,046,544)

-

137,130,000

67,000,000

-

26,713,136

-

103,887,054

144,140,731

-

-

-

-

-

-

302

94,187

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

302

94,187

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,137,067

1,042,880

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,137,369

1,137,067
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19. SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
The Skills Development Fund (“the SDF”) was established in the Republic of Singapore on 1 October 1979 as a Government
fund under the Skills Development Levy Act (Cap. 306). With effect from 1 September 2003, the administration of the SDF
was transferred from the Ministry of Manpower (“MOM”) to the Agency.
The SDF is established for the following purposes:
(i) the promotion, development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons preparing to join the workforce, persons in
the workforce and persons rejoining the workforce;
(ii) the retraining of retrenched persons; and
(iii) the provision of financial assistance by grants, loans or otherwise for the above-mentioned purposes.
The statement of comprehensive income and balance sheet of the SDF that is administered by the Agency for the financial
year ended are as follows:
(a) Statement of comprehensive income
2011
$

2010
$

177,381,366
6,047,717
9,372,684
192,801,767

163,439,684
6,094,773
19,829,218
189,363,675

Less:
Expenditure
Disbursements
Less: Disbursement refunds
Bad Debts written off
Others
Total expenditure

(98,707,964)
4,211,475
(2,937)
(7,131)
(94,506,557)

(72,138,516)
3,202,578
(24,767)
(68,960,705)

Net surplus and total comprehensive income for the financial year

98,295,210

120,402,970

Income
Operating income - skills development levy
Other income - interest income
Fair value gains
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19. SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND (CONTINUED)
(b) Balance sheet

Capital account
Accumulated surplus at end of financial year

Represented by:
Current assets
Cash and bank deposits
Levy and other receivables
Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets, held-to-maturity

Non-current assets
Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets, held-to-maturity

Total assets
Current liability
Payables
Net assets
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2011
$

2010
$

871,138,696
261,121,499
1,132,260,195

871,138,696
162,826,289
1,033,964,985

649,179,817
7,666,219
170,962,701
24,048,247
851,856,984

684,838,269
3,450,955
62,297,660
750,586,884

98,550,000
183,095,572
281,645,572

260,140,017
24,238,579
284,378,596

1,133,502,556

1,034,965,480

(1,242,361)

(1,000,495)

1,132,260,195

1,033,964,985

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
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20. LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“LLEF”) is set up by the Singapore Government under the Lifelong Learning Endowment
Fund Act, Cap.162A for the acquisition of skills and expertise by persons and the development and upgrading of skills and
expertise of persons to enhance their employability; and the promotion of the acquisition, development and upgrading of skills
and expertise to enhance the employability of persons.
The Agency has been appointed by MOM as the administrator of the LLEF to receive and deploy the grant for programmes
that are congruent with the objectives of the LLEF.
The statement of comprehensive income and balance sheet of the LLEF that is administered by the Agency for the financial
year ended are as follows:
(a) Statement of comprehensive income
2011
$

2010
$

11,354,651
2,313
11,356,964

3,434,507
1,116
3,435,623

Less:
Expenditure
Grants disbursed
Marketing and promotion expenses
Administrative expenses
Total expenditure

(132,552,620)
(3,718,816)
(37)
(136,271,473)

(132,854,857)
(1,717,702)
(50)
(134,572,609)

Deficit before grants

(124,914,509)

(131,136,986)

Grants received

124,481,926

130,408,000

Deficit for the financial year

(432,583)

(728,986)

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year

(432,583)

(728,986)

Receipts
Refund of unused grant from programme managers
Interest income
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20. LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND (CONTINUED)
(b) Balance sheet

Accumulated surplus at end of financial year
Represented by:
Current assets
Cash and bank deposits
Other current assets

Current liability
Payables
Net assets*

2011
$

2010
$

4,238,893

4,671,476

3,468,300
1,576,196
5,044,496

5,670,630
60,202
5,730,832

(805,603)

(1,059,356)

4,238,893

4,671,476

* Represent net assets administered by and available for the Agency’s use.

The financial statements of the LLEF are prepared by MOM on a cash basis and audited by another firm of auditors.

21. SKILLS REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME
The Skills Redevelopment Programme (the “SRP”) is a national programme to help re-develop the skills of our workers and
enhance their employability through certifiable skills training and upgrading. Under the SRP, companies can claim absentee
payroll funding to defray manpower costs incurred when they send their employees (who are Singapore Citizens or Permanent
Residents of Singapore) for approved training courses. The SRP was managed by the National Trades Union Congress (“NTUC”)
up to 31 December 2006. With effect from 1 January 2007, the administration of the SRP was transferred from NTUC to the
Agency. The programme was funded by MDAS up to 31 March 2009. From 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010, the absentee
payroll was funded by the LLEF. With effect 1 April 2010, it is funded by SDF.
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21. SKILLS REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (CONTINUED)
The statement of comprehensive income and balance sheet of the SRP that is administered by the Agency for the financial
year ended are as follows:

(a) Statement of comprehensive income

2011
$

2010
$

-

-

Less:
Expenditure
Grants disbursed
Administrative expenses
Total expenditure

(13,811,665)
(796)
(13,812,461)

(29,761,784)
(30,069)
(29,791,853)

Deficit before grants

(13,812,461)

(29,791,853)

Grants received from LLEF
Grants returned to MOM
Return of unutilised fund

8,816,778
(499,681)
8,317,097

35,297,198
(16,113,938)
19,183,260

Deficit and total comprehensive loss for the financial year

(5,495,364)

(10,608,593)

10,000

5,505,364

10,000

5,505,364

10,000

5,505,364

Income

(b) Balance sheet
Accumulated surplus at end of financial year
Represented by:
Current asset
Receivables
Current liability
Payables
Net asset
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22. COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements were analysed
as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

2011
$

2010
$

659,568
1,220,610
1,880,178

389,851
744,667
1,134,518

(b) Operating lease commitments
The Agency leases office premises and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases typically
run for 1 to 5 years with an option to renew the lease after that period.
The future minimum lease payable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date but
not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

2011
$

2010
$

5,653,043
16,397,900
22,050,943

5,637,524
19,346,250
424,594
25,408,368

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors
The Agency is subject to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Agency recognises that management of financial risk is an important aspect to discharge its regulatory functions, objects
and duties under the Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act, Cap. 305D. The Agency has adopted risk management
practices to mitigate these risks in a cost effective manner.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The Agency does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to hedge against fluctuations, if
any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.
(a) Market risk
(i)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange
rates.
The Agency’s operations are not exposed to significant foreign currency risks as its transactions as well as its assets
and liabilities are predominantly denominated in Singapore Dollar.

(ii)

Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities
traded in the market.
The Agency is not exposed to price risk as it does not hold any equity financial assets.

(iii)

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
due to changes in market interest rates.
The Agency has cash balances placed with reputable banks and financial institutions and CLM deposits held with
Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department and has limited exposure to interest rate risk as variable rate
interest-bearing assets are mainly of a short-term nature. The Agency manages its interest rate risk by placing such
balances on varying maturities and interest rate terms.
The interest rates for CLM deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department are based
on deposit rates determined by the financial institutions which the cash are deposited and are expected to move
in tandem with market interest rate movements.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Agency.
The Agency’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits and trade and other receivables. The maximum exposure
to credit risk for each class of financial assets is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on
the balance sheet.
The credit risk for trade and other receivables based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

By types of customers
- Government *
- Individuals
- Other companies

2011
$

2010
$

13,257,483
1,988
501,841
13,761,312

167,770
274
472,031
640,075

* Government includes Statutory Boards and Government agencies.
(i)

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Cash and bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits and cash with the AGD. Deposits
are held with a central government agency and financial institutions which have high credit-ratings as determined
by international credit-rating agencies. Cash with the AGD under the Centralised Liquidity Management are placed
with high credit quality financial institutions, and are available upon request.

(ii)

Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired
There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade and other receivables.
The age analysis of trade and other receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

Past due < 3 months
Past due 3 to 4 months
Past due over 4 months

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is not impaired.
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2011
$

2010
$

259,802
2,745
21,995
284,542

174,405
2,867
34,291
211,563

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The
Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient funding from the Government to finance its operations.
The table below analyses the Agency’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
Between
Between
Less than 1 year
1 and 2 years
2 and 5 years
$
$
$
At 31 March 2011
Other payables
Provision for reinstatement of property,
plant and equipment

At 31 March 2010
Other payables

21,261,518

-

-

168,871
21,430,389

73,575
73,575

1,363,938
1,363,938

8,192,772

-

-

(d) Capital risk
The Agency’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that the Agency is adequately capitalised and that it fulfils
the objects for which monies of the Agency may be applied under the Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act,
Cap. 305D. The Agency defines capital as its equity and deferred capital grants.
The Agency is not subject to any capital requirements under the Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act,
Cap. 305D nor any other externally imposed capital requirements.

24. NEW OR REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
Certain mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are relevant
for the Agency’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2011 or later periods and which the Agency has not early
adopted. The Agency does not expect that adoption of these accounting standards or interpretations will have a material
impact on the Agency’s financial statements.

25. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Singapore
Workforce Development Agency on 5 August 2011.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Skills Development Fund (“SDF”) set out on pages 4 to 20, which
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2011, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in capital
and accumulated surplus and cash flow statement for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information. The SDF is administered by the Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“WDA”).
WDA’S MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WDA’s management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
provisions of the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306 (the “Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”),
and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition, that transactions are properly authorised and that they are
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain
accountability of assets.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by WDA’s management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements of the SDF are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Statutory
Board Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the SDF as at 31 March 2011, and
the results, changes in capital and accumulated surplus and cash flows of the SDF for the financial year ended on that date.
Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the SDF have been properly kept in accordance
with the provisions of the Act.
During the course of our audit, nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that the receipts, expenditure and investments
of the monies and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the SDF during the financial year ended 31 March 2011 have not been
in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants
Singapore, 5 August 2011
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

Note

2011
$

2010
$

Operating income

3

177,381,366

163,439,684

Other income

3

6,047,717

6,094,773

9,372,684

19,829,218

- Bad debts written off
- Others
Total expenditure

(98,707,964)
4,211,475
(94,496,489)
(2,937)
(7,131)
(94,506,557)

(72,138,516)
3,202,578
(68,935,938)
(24,767)
(68,960,705)

Net surplus for the financial year/Total comprehensive income

98,295,210

120,402,970

Fair value gains
- Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Expenditure
- Disbursements
- Less: Disbursement refunds

WONG HONG KUAN
Chief Executive
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

SHARON TAN
Director
Finance and Administration
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

Date: 5 August 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Balance Sheet
As at 31 March 2011

Notes

2011
$

2010
$

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank deposits
Levy and other receivables
Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets, held-to-maturity

4
5
6
7

649,179,817
7,666,219
170,962,701
24,048,247
851,856,984

684,838,269
3,450,955
62,297,660
750,586,884

Non-current assets
Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets, held-to-maturity

6
7

98,550,000
183,095,572
281,645,572

260,140,017
24,238,579
284,378,596

1,133,502,556

1,034,965,480

1,242,361

1,000,495

1,132,260,195

1,033,964,985

871,138,696
261,121,499
1,132,260,195

871,138,696
162,826,289
1,033,964,985

Total assets
LIABILITY
Current liability
Payables

8

NET ASSETS
Represented by:
Capital account
Accumulated surplus

SHARON TAN
Director
Finance and Administration
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

WONG HONG KUAN
Chief Executive
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

Date: 5 August 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Changes in Capital and
Accumulated Surplus
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

Note

Capital
account*
$

Accumulated
surplus
$

Total
$

871,138,696

162,826,289

1,033,964,985

-

98,295,210

98,295,210

End of financial year

871,138,696

261,121,499

1,132,260,195

2010
Beginning of financial year

871,138,696

42,423,319

913,562,015

-

120,402,970

120,402,970

871,138,696

162,826,289

1,033,964,985

2011
Beginning of financial year
Total comprehensive income for the
financial year

Total comprehensive income for the
financial year
End of financial year

* The capital account represents the Government’s capital contribution for the establishment of the Skills Development Fund.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Cash Flow Statement

For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Net surplus for the financial year
Adjustments for:
- Fair value gains
- Interest income

Change in working capital
- Levy and other receivables
- Payables
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial assets, held-to-maturity
Proceeds from financial assets, held-to-maturity
Interest received
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and bank deposits
Cash and bank deposits at beginning of financial year
Cash and bank deposits at end of financial year

4
4

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2011
$

2010
$

98,295,210

120,402,970

(9,372,684)
(5,986,260)
82,936,266

(19,829,218)
(6,047,674)
94,526,078

(3,257,170)
241,866
79,920,962

(43,008)
330,044
94,813,114

(183,896,400)
62,000,000
6,316,986
(115,579,414)

47,000,000
7,318,460
54,318,460

(35,658,452)
684,838,269
649,179,817

149,131,574
535,706,695
684,838,269

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Skills Development Fund (the “SDF”) was established in the Republic of Singapore on 1 October 1979 as a Government
fund under the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306. With effect from 1 September 2003, the administration of the SDF
was transferred from the Ministry of Manpower (“MOM”) to the Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“WDA”).
The SDF is established for the following purposes:
(a) the promotion, development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons preparing to join the workforce, persons
in the workforce and persons rejoining the workforce;
(b) the retraining of retrenched persons; and
(c) the provision of financial assistance by grants, loans or otherwise for the above-mentioned purposes.
The SDF which is administered by WDA is exempted from income tax under Section 13(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.
The address of the registered office and principal place of operations of the SDF is No.1 Marina Boulevard #16-01, One Marina
Boulevard, Singapore 018989.

2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SBFRS”), established by the Accountant-General’s Department. The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with SB-FRS requires WDA’s management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the SDF’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates and assumptions.
Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2010
On 1 April 2010, the SDF adopted the new or amended SB-FRS that is mandatory for application from that date. Changes
to the SDF’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective
SB-FRS.
The adoption of these new or amended SB-FRS did not result in substantial changes to the SDF’s accounting policies
and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Income recognition
(a)

Skills development levy
Income from Skills Development Levy is recognised on an accrual basis.

(b)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

2.3 Financial assets
(a)

Classification
The SDF classifies its financial assets in the following categories: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and financial assets held-to-maturity. The classification depends on the purpose for which
the assets were acquired. WDA’s management determines the classification of the financial assets at initial recognition.
(i)

Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that are managed and
their performances are evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented investment strategy.
Assets in this category are presented as current assets if they are expected to be realised within 12 months
after the balance sheet date.

(ii)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those maturing later than 12 months
after the balance sheet date which are presented as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented
as “levy and other receivables” and “cash and bank deposits” on the balance sheet.

(iii) Financial assets, held-to-maturity
Financial assets, held-to-maturity, are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities that the WDA’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the SDF
were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, the whole category would
be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. They are presented as non-current assets, except for those
maturing within12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as current assets.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the SDF commits
to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the SDF has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. On disposal of a financial
asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in income and expenditure.
(c) Initial measurement
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately as expenses.
(d) Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and financial
assets, held-to-maturity are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Changes in the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss including the effects of currency translation,
interest and dividends, are recognised in income and expenditure when the changes arise.
(e) Impairment
The SDF assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists.
Loans and receivables / Financial assets, held-to-maturity
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or significant
delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired.
The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which is calculated
as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in income and
expenditure.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Payables
Payables are initially recognised at their fair values, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

2.5 Currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the functional currency of the SDF.
Transactions in a currency other than Singapore Dollar (“foreign currency”) are translated into Singapore Dollar using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing
rates at the balance sheet date are recognised in income and expenditure.

2.6 Cash and bank deposits
Cash and bank deposits include deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value,
deposits held at call with a central government agency and cash that is managed by the Accountant-General’s Department
(“AGD”) (i.e. Centralised Liquidity Management deposits).
Under the Accountant-General Circular No.4/2009 dated 2 November 2009, the SDF is required to participate in the Centralised
Liquidity Management Framework (“CLM”). Under the CLM, all bank accounts maintained with selected banks will be linked
up with AGD’s bank accounts such that excess available cash can be automatically aggregated for central management on
a daily basis. The SDF will continue to own/act as trustees for their funds and operate its bank accounts, including giving
instructions for payment and revenue collection. These balances are included in cash and cash equivalents as “Central Liquidity
Management (“CLM”) deposits held with Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department”.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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3.

OPERATING AND OTHER INCOME

Operating income
Skills development levy (“SDL”) from:
- Private sector
- Statutory boards
- Government
Other

Other income
Interest income from:
- bank deposits
- CLM deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, AGD
- financial assets, held-to-maturity
Other

Total

2011
$

2010
$

160,295,695
5,910,973
11,147,996
26,702
177,381,366

147,180,350
5,778,452
10,451,797
29,085
163,439,684

1,683,074
2,109,064
2,194,122
61,457
6,047,717

3,012,162
3,035,512
47,099
6,094,773

183,429,083

169,534,457

SDL contribution is payable by employers for all employees up to the first $4,500 of gross monthly remuneration at the rate
of 0.25% or $2, whichever is higher.

4.

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS

Cash at bank
Centralised Liquidity Management (“CLM”) deposits
held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant – General’s Department
Deposits held at call with the Ministry of Finance,
Accountant – General’s Department
Short-term bank deposits
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2011
$

2010
$

73,978

100,203,379

641,595,838

-

7,510,001
649,179,817

11,484,890
573,150,000
684,838,269

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

4.

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
The short-term bank deposits as at 31 March 2010 had an average maturity of 9 months from the end of the financial year
with a weighted average effective interest rate of 0.52% per annum.
Centralised Liquidity Management (”CLM”) deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department
(“AGD”) earned interest based on fixed deposit rates determined by the financial institutions with which AGD deposits the
monies.
Deposits held at call with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant – General’s Department are non-interest bearing.

5.

LEVY AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Refund of assistance previously disbursed and underpaid levy receivable
Levy collection due from Central Provident Fund Board (“CPF”)
Interest receivable
Other receivables due from Singapore Workforce Development Agency
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2011
$
109,846
1,221,387
2,953,042
3,381,944
7,666,219

2010
$
74,579
1,381,428
1,994,948
3,450,955

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

6.

FINANCIAL ASSETS, AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2011
$

2010
$

At fair value on initial recognition
Capital protected investments:
- Robeco Fullerton Bond due 15 August 2012
- Amundi Capital Protection 90% Fund due 1 August 2011
Total

98,550,000
170,962,701
269,512,701

95,760,000
164,380,017
260,140,017

Less: Current portion

170,962,701

-

98,550,000

260,140,017

Non-current portion
(a) Robeco Fullerton Bond

An agreement was entered with Fullerton Fund Management in July 2007 to manage this 100% capital protected investment
for SDF for a period of five years. The investment objective is to achieve consistent long-term capital appreciation in the
value of its assets by diversifying into various investments.
(b) Amundi Capital Protection 90% Fund
An agreement was entered with Amundi Asset Management Singapore Limited in August 2008 to manage this 90%
capital protected investment for SDF for a period of three years. The investment objective is to preserve capital value,
allow for capital appreciation, and optimise the overall investment returns at acceptable risk levels through adequate
diversification.
The fair values of capital protected investments are based on the net asset value of the fund or the present value of the
protected redemption amount, whichever is higher.

14

SDF Financial Statements 2010/11

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

7.

FINANCIAL ASSETS, HELD-TO-MATURITY

Quoted bonds
- Singapore Government bonds
- Singapore corporate bonds
Total
Less: Current portion
Non-current portion

2011
$

2010
$

92,544,037
114,599,782
207,143,819
(24,048,247)
183,095,572

86,536,239
86,536,239
(62,297,660)
24,238,579

The quoted bonds have fixed interest rates ranging from 1.38% to 4.17% (2010: 3.63% to 4.63%) per annum and have
maturity periods ranging from 3 to 66 months (2010: 3 to 15 months).
Fair value of financial assets, held-to-maturity
The fair values of financial assets, held-to-maturity at the balance sheet date are as follows:
2011
$
92,842,000
114,490,400
207,332,400

Quoted Singapore Government bonds
Quoted Singapore corporate bonds

2010
$
87,506,600
87,506,600

The fair values of quoted bonds are based on the last bid prices at the balance sheet date.

8.

PAYABLES

Assistance committed and payable and overpaid levy refundable
Other payables
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2011
$
514,115
728,246
1,242,361

2010
$
856,591
143,904
1,000,495

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

9.

COMMITMENTS
Training assistance granted by WDA under the SDF but not approved for disbursements at the balance sheet date are as
follows:

Training assistance committed for disbursement

2011
$

2010
$

191,803,206

201,117,795

10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors
The SDF is subject to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The SDF recognises that management of financial risk is an important aspect to discharge its regulatory functions, objects
and duties under the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306. The SDF has adopted risk management practices to mitigate
these risks in a cost effective manner.
The SDF does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to hedge against fluctuations, if any,
in interest rates and foreign exchange.
(a) Market risk
(i)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange
rates.
The SDF’s operations are not exposed to significant foreign currency risks as its transactions as well as its assets
and liabilities are mainly denominated in Singapore Dollar.

(ii)

Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities
traded in the market.
The SDF is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from the capital protected investments which are classified
on the balance sheet as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. However, the SDF has positive intention
and ability to hold its investments in bonds and capital protected investments to maturity, therefore downside equity
price risk is minimal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates.
The SDF has cash balances placed with reputable banks and financial institutions and the AGD and has limited exposure
to interest rate risk as variable rate interest-bearing assets are mainly of a short-term nature. Interest rates on its investments
in bonds are fixed. The SDF manages its interest rate risk by placing such balances on varying maturities and interest
rate terms.
The interest rates for cash with the AGD are based on deposit rates determined by the financial institutions with which
the cash are deposited and are expected to move in tandem with market interest rate movements.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the SDF.
The SDF’s major classes of financial assets are cash with the AGD, bank deposits, levy and other receivables and financial
assets, held-to-maturity and at fair value through profit or loss. The maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of
financial assets is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the balance sheet.
The credit risk for levy and other receivables based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

By counterparties
- Government *
- Other companies

* Government includes Statutory Boards and Government agencies.
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2011
$

2010
$

6,824,975
841,244
7,666,219

2,310,641
1,140,314
3,450,955

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i)

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Cash and bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits and cash with the AGD. Deposits
are held with a central government agency and financial institutions which have high credit-ratings as determined
by international credit-rating agencies. Cash with the AGD under the Centralised Liquidity Management are placed
with high credit quality financial institutions, and are available upon request.
Financial assets, held-to-maturity that are neither past due nor impaired are investments held with government
agencies or high investment grade corporate bonds. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are investments
held with high credit quality counterparties.
Levy and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially levy collection due from the Central
Provident Fund Board and interest receivable from the above-mentioned financial institutions.

(ii)

Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired
There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for levy and other receivables.
The age analysis of levy and other receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

Past due < 3 months
Past due 3 to 6 months
Past due over 6 months

2011
$

2010
$

66,536
8,825
13,845
89,206

25,045
19,976
7,263
52,284

The carrying amount of levy and other receivables is not impaired.
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the SDF will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The SDF
manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient funds to enable it to meet its operational requirements.
The SDF’s financial liabilities are expected to mature within one year.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(d) Capital risk
The SDF’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that the SDF is adequately capitalised and that it fulfills the
objects for which monies of the SDF may be applied under the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306.
The SDF is not subject to any capital requirements under the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306 or any other externally
imposed capital requirements.
(e) Fair value measurements
The table below presents assets measured at fair value at 31 March 2011 and classified by level of the following fair value
measurement hierarchy:
(i)

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(ii)

inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(as is prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(iii)

inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Assets
Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

-

269,512,701

-

269,512,701

The fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are based on dealer quotes at the balance sheet date.
These instruments are included in Level 2.
The carrying value less impairment provision of current levy receivables and payables approximate to their fair values.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

11. NEW OR REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are relevant for the
SDF’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2011 or later periods and which the SDF has not early adopted. The
SDF does not expect that adoption of these accounting standards will have a material impact on the SDF’s financial statements.

12. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of WDA on 5 August 2011.
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

Statement By Management
In the opinion of the Management, the accompanying financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act 2001 (the “Act”) so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Lifelong
Learning Endowment Fund for the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

_______________________________
LOH KHUM YEAN
Permanent Secretary
Ministry of Manpower

_______________________________
ONG BEE LEE (MS)
Director/Corporate Planning Department
Ministry of Manpower

Date: 16 May 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
ON LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund, which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and the receipts and expenditure statement for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the provisions
of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act 2001 (the “Act”). This responsibility includes:
(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair income and expenditure accounts and balance sheets
and to maintain accountability of assets.
(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund’s policy is to prepare the financial statements on the cash receipts and disbursements
basis. On this basis, revenue is recognised when received rather than when earned and expenses are recognised when paid rather
than when incurred.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management committee, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION
In our opinion,
(a) the financial statements of Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act 2001 (the “Act”), and on the basis sets out in the preceding paragraph, present
fairly, in all material aspects, the state of affairs of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund as at 31 March 2011 and the receipts
and expenditure of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund for the year ended on that date;
(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund have been properly
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act; and
(c) the receipts, expenditure and investment of monies and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Lifelong Learning
Endowment Fund have been done in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

GEETHA A & ASSOCIATES
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Singapore,
Date: 16 May 2011
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

Statement of Financial Position
As At 31 March 2011

Registered Office:

Ministry of Manpower
18 Havelock Road #07-01
Singapore 059764

Note

2011
$

2010
$

3

3,306,789,904

3,308,213,180

4

3,306,789,904

3,308,213,180

Accumulated Fund
Balance at end of the year
Represented by :
Funds with Accountant-General

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

Receipts And Expenditure Statement
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

Note

2011
$

2010
$

-

100,000,000

123,065,530

130,352,237

11,356,964

3,435,623

134,422,494

233,787,860

132,120,037

132,125,871

3,718,816

1,717,702

6,917

6,930

135,845,770

133,850,503

(1,423,276)

99,937,357

3,308,213,180

3,208,275,823

3,306,789,904

3,308,213,180

Receipts during the year
Capital contribution from Government
Income from investments
Other receipts

5

Expenditure during the year
Grants disbursed

6

Marketing and promotion expenses
Administrative expenses

(Deficit) / Surplus for the year
Accumulated fund balance brought forward
Accumulated fund balance carried forward

3

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

6

LLEF Financial Statements 2010/11

MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

Notes to Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Ministry of Manpower on 16 May 2011.

1.

DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES
The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“the Fund”) is established in Singapore. The address of the Ministry’s principal place
of activity is at 18 Havelock Road, #07-01, Singapore 059764.
The Fund is set up by the Singapore Government (“the Government”) under the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act 2001
(“the Act”) for the acquisition of skills and expertise by persons, and the development and upgrading of skills and expertise
of persons to enhance their employability; and the promotion of the acquisition, development and upgrading of skills and
expertise to enhance the employability of persons.
The Fund, which came into operation with effect from 12 March 2001, had an initial capital of $500 million. The Government
may make further payments of capital money into the Fund from time to time. Only income earned from the Fund will be used.
The Fund is deemed to be a Government fund for the purposes of any written law in Singapore.
The Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“WDA”) has been appointed as the programme manager of the Fund to
receive and deploy the grant for programmes that are congruent with the objectives of the Fund.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.
In line with the Government’s accounting policy, the cash basis of accounting is adopted. On the basis, receipts are
recognised when received rather than earned and expenses are recognised when paid rather than when incurred.
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

Notes to Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

3.

ACCUMULATED FUND
Note

Capital contribution from Government
Income from investments

(a)
(b)

2011
$

2010
$

3,100,000,000
206,789,904
3,306,789,904

3,100,000,000
208,213,180
3,308,213,180

a)

This relates to capital money paid into the Fund by the Government from the Consolidated Revenue Account. Under
Section 4(4) of the Act, this amount shall not be used for any purpose other than for investment.

b)

This relates to investment income earned on the Fund balance. The investment income is arrived at after deducting
investment expenses, grants made to institutions and other expenses as approved under the Act.

Note

Income from investments
Past reserves protected
Income from investments available for expenditure
c)

(c)
(d)

2011
$

2010
$

206,789,904
(123,915,245)
82,874,659

208,213,180
(123,915,245)
84,297,935

This relates to reserves which are protected as a result of Government requirements.
Investment income earned from the Fund previously will be protected when there is a change-over in government. This
would ensure that the present government would only spend what it has earned in its term of office.

d)

This amount is available for payment of future approved expenses and distribution as grants to institutions to be applied
for the purpose of all or any of the following purposes as defined under the Act:
(i)

the provision of financial assistance or incentives to persons to acquire, develop or upgrade, whether in Singapore
or elsewhere, skills and expertise to enhance their employability;

(ii)

the research or development, whether in Singapore or elsewhere, in or of learning methods and technology to
enhance the acquisition, development or upgrading of such skills and expertise;

(iii)

the promotion of the acquisition, development or upgrading of such skills and expertise;

(iv)

the provision of financial assistance or incentives to persons to carry out, whether in Singapore or elsewhere, activities
or programmes which are consistent with objects of the Fund;
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

Notes to Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

3.

4.

ACCUMULATED FUND (CONTINUED)
(v)

the establishment, expansion or maintenance of facilities, whether in Singapore or elsewhere, to be used for purposes
consistent with the objects of the Fund; and

(vi)

such other purposes consistent with the objects of the Fund, whether carried out in Singapore or elsewhere, as may
be prescribed.

FUNDS WITH ACCOUNTANT-GENERAL
This represents funds held by the Accountant-General on behalf of the Fund. The Fund is allocated investment income at
prevailing Central Provident Fund’s rate of return for Special and Retirement Accounts, currently at 3.72% (2010: 3.95%) per
annum.

5.

OTHER RECEIPTS

Refund of unused grant
Interest income
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2011
$

2010
$

11,354,651
2,313
11,356,964

3,434,507
1,116
3,435,623

MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

Notes to Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011

6.

GRANTS DISBURSED
During the financial year, the Fund made grants for the following programmes to approved institutions:
2011
$

2010
$

Employment Facilitation Programmes
(includes project grant to E2i and SPUR-Jobs Scheme)

27,059,224

14,817,583

Development and Expansion of CET Centres

51,678,547

40,119,397

Outcome-based and Skills Upgrading Programmed for In-employment Workers

17,705,739

11,165,046

-

35,285,755

Place and Train Programmes/Professional Skills Programme/
Professional Conversion Programme

8,256,672

7,542,225

WSQ Development, Implementation and Launch

4,704,294

4,685,039

Advantage

8,850,264

6,356,615

Promotion and Publicity (Industry Specific)

2,441,406

4,727,534

11,856,473
132,552,619
(432,582)
132,120,037

8,155,663
132,854,857
(728,986)
132,125,871

2011
$

2010
$

(4,671,475)

(5,400,461)

4,238,893
(432,582)

4,671,475
(728,986)

Expenditure

Absentee Payroll Funding For Inemployment Training

Others (e.g. surveys, administration, minor projects)
WDA – Refer to Note (a)

Note (a) – this is represented by:
Note

Grants disbursed by WDA out of unused funds received from
the Fund in the previous financial year
Unused portion of grants disbursed to WDA in the current financial
year, available for carry forward to the next financial year
(a)
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